Seminar on Issues on Recent Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI.

______________________________________________________________________


ACCOUNTING STANDARD 17

S E G M E N T   R E P O R T I N G 

(In this Accounting Standard, the standard portions have been set in bold italic type. These should be read in the context of the background material which has been set in normal type, and in the context of the 'Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards'.)

The following is the text of Accounting Standard 17, 'Segment Reporting', issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Standard comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.2001 and is mandatory in nature, from that date, in respect of the following: 

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as evidenced by the board of directors' resolution in this regard.

(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.

OBJECTIVE

The objective of this Statement is to establish principles for reporting financial information, about the different types of products and services an enterprise produces and the different geographical areas in which it operates. Such information helps users of financial statements: 

(a) better understand the performance of the enterprise;

(b) better assess the risks and returns of the enterprise; and

(c) make more informed judgements about the enterprise as a whole.

Many enterprises provide groups of products and services or operate in geographical areas that are subject to differing rates of profitability, opportunities for growth, future prospects, and risks. Information about different types of products and services of an enterprise and its operations in different geographical areas - often called segment information - is relevant to assessing the risks and returns of a diversified or multi-locational enterprise but may not be determinable from the aggregated data. Therefore, reporting of segment information is widely regarded as necessary for meeting the needs of users of financial statements.

Scope

1. This Statement should be applied in presenting general purpose financial statements.

2. The requirements of this Statement are also applicable in case of consolidated financial statements. 

3. An enterprise should comply with the requirements of this Statement fully and not selectively.

4. If a single financial report contains both consolidated financial statements and the separate financial statements of the parent, segment information need be presented only on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. In the context of reporting of segment information in consolidated financial statements, the references in this Statement to any financial statement items should construed to be the relevant item as appearing in the consolidated financial statements.

Definitions

5. The following terms are used in this Statement with the meanings specified:

A business segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged in providing an individual product or service or a group of related products or services and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. Factors that should be considered in determining whether products or services are related include:

(a) the nature of the products or services;

(b) the nature of the production processes;

(c) the type or class of customers for the products or services; 

(d) the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services; and

(e) if applicable, the nature of the regulatory environment, for example, banking, insurance, or public utilities.

A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components operating in other economic environments. Factors that should be considered in identifying geographical segments include:

(a) similarity of economic and political conditions;

(b) relationships between operations in different geographical areas;

(c) proximity of operations;

(d) special risks associated with operations in a particular area;

(e) exchange control regulations; and 

(f) the underlying currency risks.

A reportable segment is a business segment or a geographical segment identified on the basis of foregoing definitions for which segment information is required to be disclosed by this Statement.

Enterprise revenue is revenue from sales to external customers as reported in the statement of profit and loss. 

Segment revenue is the aggregate of

(i) the portion of enterprise revenue that is directly attributable to a segment,

(ii) the relevant portion of enterprise revenue that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, and

(iii) revenue from transactions with other segments of the enterprise.

Segment expense does not include:

(a) extraordinary items as defined in AS 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies;

(b) interest expense, including interest incurred on advances or loans from other segments, unless the operations of the segment are primarily of a financial nature;

(c) losses on sales of investments or losses on extinguishment of debt unless the operations of the segment are primarily of a financial nature;

(d) income tax expense; and

(e) general administrative expenses, head-office expenses, and other expenses that arise at the enterprise level and relate to the enterprise as a whole. However, costs are sometimes incurred at the enterprise level on behalf of a segment. Such costs are part of segment expense if they relate to the operating activities of the segment and if they can be directly attributed or allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis

Segment result is segment revenue less segment expense.

Segment assets are those operating assets that are employed by a segment in its operating activities and that either are directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

If the segment result of a segment includes interest or dividend income, its segment assets include the related receivables, loans, investments, or other interest or dividend generating assets.

Segment assets do not include income tax assets.

Segment assets are determined after deducting related allowances/provisions that are reported as direct offsets in the balance sheet of the enterprise.

Segment liabilities are those operating liabilities that result from the operating activities of a segment and that either are directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. If the segment result of a segment includes interest expense, its segment liabilities include the related interest-bearing liabilities.

Segment liabilities do not include income tax liabilities.

Segment accounting policies are the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the enterprise as well as those accounting policies that relate specifically to segment reporting.

6. The factors in paragraph 5 for identifying business segments and geographical segments are not listed in any particular order.

7. A single business segment does not include products and services with significantly differing risks and returns. While there may be dissimilarities with respect to one or several of the factors listed in the definition of business segment, the products and services included in a single business segment are expected to be similar with respect to a majority of the factors.

8. Similarly, a single geographical segment does not include operations in economic environments with significantly differing risks and returns. A geographical segment may be a single country, a group of two or more countries, or a region within a country.

9. The risks and returns of an enterprise are influenced both by the geographical location of its operations (where its products are produced or where its service rendering activities are based) and also by the location of its customers (where its products are sold or services are rendered). The definition allows geographical segments to be based on either:

(a) the location of production or service facilities and other assets of an enterprise; or

(b) the location of its customers. 

10. The organisational and internal reporting structure of an enterprise will normally provide evidence of whether its dominant source of geographical risks results from the location of its assets (the origin of its sales) or the location of its customers (the destination of its sales). Accordingly, an enterprise looks to this structure to determine whether its geographical segments should be based on the location of its assets or on the location of its customers. 

11. Determining the composition of a business or geographical segment involves a certain amount of judgement. In making that judgement, enterprise management takes into account the objective of reporting financial information by segment as set forth in this Statement and the qualitative characteristics of financial statements as identified in the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The qualitative characteristics include the relevance, reliability, and comparability over time of financial information that is reported about the different groups of products and services of an enterprise and about its operations in particular geographical areas, and the usefulness of that information for assessing the risks and returns of the enterprise as a whole.

12. The predominant sources of risks affect how most enterprises are organised and managed. Therefore, the organisational structure of an enterprise and its internal financial reporting system are normally the basis for identifying its segments.

13. The definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets and segment liabilities include amounts of such items that are directly attributable to a segment and amounts of such items that can be allocated to a segment on a reasonable basis. An enterprise looks to its internal financial reporting system as the starting point for identifying those items that can be directly attributed, or reasonably allocated, to segments. There is thus a presumption that amounts that have been identified with segments for internal financial reporting purposes are directly attributable or reasonably allocable to segments for the purpose of measuring the segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities of reportable segments.

14. In some cases, however, a revenue, expense, asset or liability may have been allocated to segments for internal financial reporting purposes on a basis that is understood by enterprise management but that could be deemed arbitrary in the perception of external users of financial statements. Such an allocation would not constitute a reasonable basis under the definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities in this Statement. Conversely, an enterprise may choose not to allocate some item of revenue, expense, asset or liability for internal financial reporting purposes, even though a reasonable basis for doing so exists. Such an item is allocated pursuant to the definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities in this Statement.

15. Examples of segment assets include current assets that are used in the operating activities of the segment and tangible and intangible fixed assets. If a particular item of depreciation or amortisation is included in segment expense, the related asset is also included in segment assets. Segment assets do not include assets used for general enterprise or head-office purposes. Segment assets include operating assets shared by two or more segments if a reasonable basis for allocation exists. Segment assets include goodwill that is directly attributable to a segment or that can be allocated to a segment on a reasonable basis, and segment expense includes related amortisation of goodwill. If segment assets have been revalued subsequent to acquisition, then the measurement of segment assets reflects those revaluations. 

16. Examples of segment liabilities include trade and other payables, accrued liabilities, customer advances, product warranty provisions, and other claims relating to the provision of goods and services. Segment liabilities do not include borrowings and other liabilities that are incurred for financing rather than operating purposes. The liabilities of segments whose operations are not primarily of a financial nature do not include borrowings and similar liabilities because segment result represents an operating, rather than a net-of-financing, profit or loss. Further, because debt is often issued at the head-office level on an enterprise-wide basis, it is often not possible to directly attribute, or reasonably allocate, the interest-bearing liabilities to segments. 

17. Segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets and segment liabilities are determined before intra-enterprise balances and intra-enterprise transactions are eliminated as part of the process of preparation of enterprise financial statements, except to the extent that such intra-enterprise balances and transactions are within a single segment. 

18. While the accounting policies used in preparing and presenting the financial statements of the enterprise as a whole are also the fundamental segment accounting policies, segment accounting policies include, in addition, policies that relate specifically to segment reporting, such as identification of segments, method of pricing inter-segment transfers, and basis for allocating revenues and expenses to segments.

IDENTIFYING REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

Primary and Secondary Segment Reporting Formats 

19. The dominant source and nature of risks and returns of an enterprise should govern whether its primary segment reporting format will be business segments or geographical segments. If the risks and returns of an enterprise are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services it produces, its primary format for reporting segment information should be business segments, with secondary information reported geographically. Similarly, if the risks and returns of the enterprise are affected predominantly by the fact that it operates in different countries or other geographical areas, its primary format for reporting segment information should be geographical segments, with secondary information reported for groups of related products and services. 

20. Internal organisation and management structure of an enterprise and its system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and the chief executive officer should normally be the basis for identifying the predominant source and nature of risks and differing rates of return facing the enterprise and, therefore, for determining which reporting format is primary and which is secondary, except as provided in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) below: 

(a) if risks and returns of an enterprise are strongly affected both by differences in the products and services it produces and by differences in the geographical areas in which it operates, as evidenced by a "matrix approach" to managing the company and to reporting internally to the board of directors and the chief executive officer, then the enterprise should use business segments as its primary segment reporting format and geographical segments as its secondary reporting format; and 

(b) if internal organisational and management structure of an enterprise and its system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and the chief executive officer are based neither on individual products or services or groups of related products/services nor on geographical areas, the directors and management of the enterprise should determine whether the risks and returns of the enterprise are related more to the products and services it produces or to the geographical areas in which it operates and should, accordingly, choose business segments or geographical segments as the primary segment reporting format of the enterprise, with the other as its secondary reporting format. 

21. For most enterprises, the predominant source of risks and returns determines how the enterprise is organised and managed. Organisational and management structure of an enterprise and its internal financial reporting system normally provide the best evidence of the predominant source of risks and returns of the enterprise for the purpose of its segment reporting. Therefore, except in rare circumstances, an enterprise will report segment information in its financial statements on the same basis as it reports internally to top management. Its predominant source of risks and returns becomes its primary segment reporting format. Its secondary source of risks and returns becomes its secondary segment reporting format. 

22. A 'matrix presentation' -- both business segments and geographical segments as primary segment reporting formats with full segment disclosures on each basis -- will often provide useful information if risks and returns of an enterprise are strongly affected both by differences in the products and services it produces and by differences in the geographical areas in which it operates. This Statement does not require, but does not prohibit, a 'matrix presentation'. 

23. In some cases, organisation and internal reporting of an enterprise may have developed along lines unrelated to both the types of products and services it produces, and the geographical areas in which it operates. In such cases, the internally reported segment data will not meet the objective of this Statement. Accordingly, paragraph 20(b) requires the directors and management of the enterprise to determine whether the risks and returns of the enterprise are more product/service driven or geographically driven and to accordingly choose business segments or geographical segments as the primary basis of segment reporting. The objective is to achieve a reasonable degree of comparability with other enterprises, enhance understandability of the resulting information, and meet the needs of investors, creditors, and others for information about product/service-related and geographically-related risks and returns. 

Business and Geographical Segments

24. Business and geographical segments of an enterprise for external reporting purposes should be those organisational units for which information is reported to the board of directors and to the chief executive officer for the purpose of evaluating the unit's performance and for making decisions about future allocations of resources, except as provided in paragraph . 

25. If internal organisational and management structure of an enterprise and its system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and the chief executive officer are based neither on individual products or services or groups of related products/services nor on geographical areas, paragraph 20(b) requires that the directors and management of the enterprise should choose either business segments or geographical segments as the primary segment reporting format of the enterprise based on their assessment of which reflects the primary source of the risks and returns of the enterprise, with the other as its secondary reporting format. In that case, the directors and management of the enterprise should determine its business segments and geographical segments for external reporting purposes based on the factors in the definitions in paragraph 5 of this Statement, rather than on the basis of its system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and chief executive officer, consistent with the following: 

(a) if one or more of the segments reported internally to the directors and management is a business segment or a geographical segment based on the factors in the definitions in paragraph 5 but others are not, sub-paragraph (b) below should be applied only to those internal segments that do not meet the definitions in paragraph 5 (that is, an internally reported segment that meets the definition should not be further segmented); 

(b) for those segments reported internally to the directors and management that do not satisfy the definitions in paragraph 5, management of the enterprise should look to the next lower level of internal segmentation that reports information along product and service lines or geographical lines, as appropriate under the definitions in paragraph 5; and

(c) if such an internally reported lower-level segment meets the definition of business segment or geographical segment based on the factors in paragraph 5, the criteria in paragraph 27 for identifying reportable segments should be applied to that segment.

26. Under this Statement, most enterprises will identify their business and geographical segments as the organisational units for which information is reported to the board of the directors (particularly the non-executive directors, if any) and to the chief executive officer (the senior operating decision maker, which in some cases may be a group of several people) for the purpose of evaluating each unit's performance and for making decisions about future allocations of resources. Even if an enterprise must apply paragraph 25 because its internal segments are not along product/service or geographical lines, it will consider the next lower level of internal segmentation that reports information along product and service lines or geographical lines rather than construct segments solely for external reporting purposes. This approach of looking to organisational and management structure of an enterprise and its internal financial reporting system to identify the business and geographical segments of the enterprise for external reporting purposes is sometimes called the 'management approach', and the organisational components for which information is reported internally are sometimes called 'operating segments'. 

Reportable Segments

27. A business segment or geographical segment should be identified as a reportable segment if:

(a) its revenue from sales to external customers and from transactions with other segments is 10 per cent or more of the total revenue, external and internal, of all segments; or

(b) its segment result, whether profit or loss, is 10 per cent or more of -

(i) the combined result of all segments in profit, or

(ii) the combined result of all segments in loss, whichever is greater in absolute amount; or

(c) its segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all segments.

28. A business segment or a geographical segment which is not a reportable segment as per paragraph 27, may be designated as a reportable segment despite its size at the discretion of the management of the enterprise. If that segment is not designated as a reportable segment, it should be included as an unallocated reconciling item. 

29. If total external revenue attributable to reportable segments constitutes less than 75 per cent of the total enterprise revenue, additional segments should be identified as reportable segments, even if they do not meet the 10 per cent thresholds in paragraph 27, until at least 75 per cent of total enterprise revenue is included in reportable segments.

30. The 10 per cent thresholds in this Statement are not intended to be a guide for determining materiality for any aspect of financial reporting other than identifying reportable business and geographical segments. Appendix II to this Statement presents an illustration of the determination of reportable segments as per paragraphs 27-29.

31. A segment identified as a reportable segment in the immediately preceding period because it satisfied the relevant 10 per cent thresholds should continue to be a reportable segment for the current period notwithstanding that its revenue, result, and assets all no longer meet the 10 per cent thresholds.

32. If a segment is identified as a reportable segment in the current period because it satisfies the relevant 10 per cent thresholds, preceding-period segment data that is presented for comparative purposes should, unless it is impracticable to do so, be restated to reflect the newly reportable segment as a separate segment, even if that segment did not satisfy the 10 per cent thresholds in the preceding period.

Segment Accounting Policies

33. Segment information should be prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the enterprise as a whole. 

34. There is a presumption that the accounting policies that the directors and management of an enterprise have chosen to use in preparing the financial statements of the enterprise as a whole are those that the directors and management believe are the most appropriate for external reporting purposes. Since the purpose of segment information is to help users of financial statements better understand and make more informed judgements about the enterprise as a whole, this Statement requires the use, in preparing segment information, of the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the enterprise as a whole. That does not mean, however, that the enterprise accounting policies are to be applied to reportable segments as if the segments were separate stand-alone reporting entities. A detailed calculation done in applying a particular accounting policy at the enterprise-wide level may be allocated to segments if there is a reasonable basis for doing so. Pension calculations, for example, often are done for an enterprise as a whole, but the enterprise-wide figures may be allocated to segments based on salary and demographic data for the segments.

35. This Statement does not prohibit the disclosure of additional segment information that is prepared on a basis other than the accounting policies adopted for the enterprise financial statements provided that (a) the information is reported internally to the board of directors and the chief executive officer for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance and (b) the basis of measurement for this additional information is clearly described. 

36. Assets and liabilities that relate jointly to two or more segments should be allocated to segments if, and only if, their related revenues and expenses also are allocated to those segments.

37. The way in which asset, liability, revenue, and expense items are allocated to segments depends on such factors as the nature of those items, the activities conducted by the segment, and the relative autonomy of that segment. It is not possible or appropriate to specify a single basis of allocation that should be adopted by all enterprises; nor is it appropriate to force allocation of enterprise asset, liability, revenue, and expense items that relate jointly to two or more segments, if the only basis for making those allocations is arbitrary. At the same time, the definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities are interrelated, and the resulting allocations should be consistent. Therefore, jointly used assets and liabilities are allocated to segments if, and only if, their related revenues and expenses also are allocated to those segments. For example, an asset is included in segment assets if, and only if, the related depreciation or amortisation is included in segment expense. 

DISCLOSURE

38. Paragraphs 39-46 specify the disclosures required for reportable segments for primary segment reporting format of an enterprise. Paragraphs 47-51 identify the disclosures required for secondary reporting format of an enterprise. Enterprises are encouraged to make all of the primary-segment disclosures identified in paragraphs 39-46 for each reportable secondary segment although paragraphs 47-51 require considerably less disclosure on the secondary basis. Paragraphs 53-59 address several other segment disclosure matters. Appendix III to this Statement illustrates the application of these disclosure standards. 

Primary Reporting Format 

39. The disclosure requirements in paragraphs 40-46 should be applied to each reportable segment based on primary reporting format of an enterprise.

40. An enterprise should disclose the following for each reportable segment:

(a) segment revenue, classified into segment revenue from sales to external customers and segment revenue from transactions with other segments;

(b) segment result;

(c) total carrying amount of segment assets;

(d) total amount of segment liabilities;

(e) total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period (tangible and intangible fixed assets);

(f) total amount of expense included in the segment result for depreciation and amortisation in respect of segment assets for the period; and 

(g) total amount of significant non-cash expenses, other than depreciation and amortisation in respect of segment assets, that were included in segment expense and, therefore, deducted in measuring segment result. 

41. Paragraph 40 (b) requires an enterprise to report segment result. If an enterprise can compute segment net profit or loss or some other measure of segment profitability other than segment result, without arbitrary allocations, reporting of such amount(s) in addition to segment result is encouraged. If that measure is prepared on a basis other than the accounting policies adopted for the financial statements of the enterprise, the enterprise will include in its financial statements a clear description of the basis of measurement.

42. An example of a measure of segment performance above segment result in the statement of profit and loss is gross margin on sales. Examples of measures of segment performance below segment result in the statement of profit and loss are profit or loss from ordinary activities (either before or after income taxes) and net profit or loss. 

43. Accounting Standard 5, 'Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies' requires that "when items of income and expense within profit or loss from ordinary activities are of such size, nature or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to explain the performance of the enterprise for the period, the nature and amount of such items should be disclosed separately". Examples of such items include write-downs of inventories, provisions for restructuring, disposals of fixed assets and long-term investments, legislative changes having retrospective application, litigation settlements, and reversal of provisions. An enterprise is encouraged, but not required, to disclose the nature and amount of any items of segment revenue and segment expense that are of such size, nature, or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to explain the performance of the segment for the period. Such disclosure is not intended to change the classification of any such items of revenue or expense from ordinary to extraordinary or to change the measurement of such items. The disclosure, however, does change the level at which the significance of such items is evaluated for disclosure purposes from the enterprise level to the segment level. 

44. An enterprise that reports the amount of cash flows arising from operating, investing and financing activities of a segment need not disclose depreciation and amortisation expense and non-cash expenses of such segment pursuant to sub-paragraphs (f) and (g) of paragraph 40. 

45. AS 3, Cash Flow Statements, recommends that an enterprise present a cash flow statement that separately reports cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities. Disclosure of information regarding operating, investing and financing cash flows of each reportable segment is relevant to understanding the enterprise's overall financial position, liquidity, and cash flows. Disclosure of segment cash flow is, therefore, encouraged, though not required. An enterprise that provides segment cash flow disclosures need not disclose depreciation and amortisation expense and non-cash expenses pursuant to sub-paragraphs (f) and (g) of paragraph 40. 

46. An enterprise should present a reconciliation between the information disclosed for reportable segments and the aggregated information in the enterprise financial statements. In presenting the reconciliation, segment revenue should be reconciled to enterprise revenue; segment result should be reconciled to enterprise net profit or loss; segment assets should be reconciled to enterprise assets; and segment liabilities should be reconciled to enterprise liabilities. 

Secondary Segment Information

47. Paragraphs 39-46 identify the disclosure requirements to be applied to each reportable segment based on primary reporting format of an enterprise. Paragraphs 48-51 identify the disclosure requirements to be applied to each reportable segment based on secondary reporting format of an enterprise, as follows:

(a) if primary format of an enterprise is business segments, the required secondary-format disclosures are identified in paragraph 48;

(b) if primary format of an enterprise is geographical segments based on location of assets (where the products of the enterprise are produced or where its service rendering operations are based), the required secondary-format disclosures are identified in paragraphs 49 and 50;

(c) if primary format of an enterprise is geographical segments based on the location of its customers (where its products are sold or services are rendered), the required secondary-format disclosures are identified in paragraphs 49 and 51. 

48. If primary format of an enterprise for reporting segment information is business segments, it should also report the following information:

(a) segment revenue from external customers by geographical area based on the geographical location of its customers, for each geographical segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or more of enterprise revenue;

(b) the total carrying amount of segment assets by geographical location of assets, for each geographical segment whose segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all geographical segments; and

(c) the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period (tangible and intangible fixed assets) by geographical location of assets, for each geographical segment whose segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all geographical segments. 

49. If primary format of an enterprise for reporting segment information is geographical segments (whether based on location of assets or location of customers), it should also report the following segment information for each business segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or more of enterprise revenue or whose segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all business segments:

(a) segment revenue from external customers;

(b) the total carrying amount of segment assets; and

(c) the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period (tangible and intangible fixed assets). 

50. If primary format of an enterprise for reporting segment information is geographical segments that are based on location of assets, and if the location of its customers is different from the location of its assets, then the enterprise should also report revenue from sales to external customers for each customer-based geographical segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or more of enterprise revenue. 

51. If primary format of an enterprise for reporting segment information is geographical segments that are based on location of customers, and if the assets of the enterprise are located in different geographical areas from its customers, then the enterprise should also report the following segment information for each asset-based geographical segment whose revenue from sales to external customers or segment assets are 10 per cent or more of total enterprise amounts:

(a) the total carrying amount of segment assets by geographical location of the assets; and

(b) the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period (tangible and intangible fixed assets) by location of the assets.

Illustrative Segment Disclosures

52. Appendix III to this Statement presents an illustration of the disclosures for primary and secondary formats that are required by this Statement. 

Other Disclosures

53. In measuring and reporting segment revenue from transactions with other segments, inter-segment transfers should be measured on the basis that the enterprise actually used to price those transfers. The basis of pricing inter-segment transfers and any change therein should be disclosed in the financial statements.

54. Changes in accounting policies adopted for segment reporting that have a material effect on segment information should be disclosed. Such disclosure should include a description of the nature of the change, and the financial effect of the change if it is reasonably determinable. 

55. AS 5 requires that changes in accounting policies adopted by the enterprise should be made only if required by statute, or for compliance with an accounting standard, or if it is considered that the change would result in a more appropriate presentation of events or transactions in the financial statements of the enterprise.

56. Changes in accounting policies adopted at the enterprise level that affect segment information are dealt with in accordance with AS 5. AS 5 requires that any change in an accounting policy which has a material effect should be disclosed. The impact of, and the adjustments resulting from, such change, if material, should be shown in the financial statements of the period in which such change is made, to reflect the effect of such change. Where the effect of such change is not ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact should be indicated. If a change is made in the accounting policies which has no material effect on the financial statements for the current period but which is reasonably expected to have a material effect in later periods, the fact of such change should be appropriately disclosed in the period in which the change is adopted. 

57. Some changes in accounting policies relate specifically to segment reporting. Examples include changes in identification of segments and changes in the basis for allocating revenues and expenses to segments. Such changes can have a significant impact on the segment information reported but will not change aggregate financial information reported for the enterprise. To enable users to understand the impact of such changes, this Statement requires the disclosure of the nature of the change and the financial effect of the change, if reasonably determinable.

58. An enterprise should indicate the types of products and services included in each reported business segment and indicate the composition of each reported geographical segment, both primary and secondary, if not otherwise disclosed in the financial statements.

59. To assess the impact of such matters as shifts in demand, changes in the prices of inputs or other factors of production, and the development of alternative products and processes on a business segment, it is necessary to know the activities encompassed by that segment. Similarly, to assess the impact of changes in the economic and political environment on the risks and returns of a geographical segment, it is important to know the composition of that geographical segment.

NOTES ON SEGMENT REPORTING (AS 17)

( Shri Ramakrishna Prabhu.   


PERSPECTIVE AND ISSUES

Segment reporting, the disclosure of information about an enterprise’s operations in different segment, with foreign operations and export sales, and its customers, is a relatively recent development in the history of financial reporting worldwide.

Traditionally, in India business operated in a single industry segment, or within a very small number of such grouping, and thus the financial statements were relatively easy to understand, since they did not typically aggregate dissimilar operations.  During early Eighties, however, the trend toward  corporate became diversified operations. Even today the theory is to concentrate on core business, many corporate are with multiple business operations. 

Globally, a large number of business combinations resulted in highly diversified corporations, in mid 60’s. Some of these companies voluntarily disclosed segment financial information in their annual report, but the extent and nature of disclosure varied widely.  US Securities Exchange Commission encouraged disclosure of segment financial information in 1974 and made it mandatory in 1976. 

The first International Accounting Standard, IAS 14, was issued in 1981 and largely followed the lead of the prevailing US Standard.  Subsequently, IASC significantly revised this Standard, effective in mid 1998.  AS-17 is by and large is in line with IAS 14.

The primary benefit of segment reporting is the release of  “hidden data” from the consolidated financial information.  Different industry segments and/or geographic areas May posses different levels of profitability, risk, and growth.  This important information is merged in the financial statement presented in them as they are today.  Assessing future cash flows and their associated risks can be  aided by segmental data.  For example, knowledge of the level of enterprise operations in a growth or declining industry can help cash-flow predictions, while knowledge of the level of enterprise operations in an unstable geographic area can help to assess risk.  In general, information about the nature and relative size of an enterprise’s various businesses is considered useful.

Still one can list the several arguments against segment reporting:

1 Comparison of segment data between companies is misleading due to the wide variety of measurement techniques.

2 Lack of user knowledge could render segment information meaningless or misleading.

3 Disclosure of such information to competitors, labor unions, etc. could be harmful the enterprise.

4 Such disclosure may discourage management from taking risks to avoid reporting unsatisfactory segment data.

5 The investor invests in the entire company and has no right to expect segment information.

6 Accounting classification and allocation problems are inherent in segment reporting.

7 Information overloads financial reports and become complex for the average user.

8 Information on an organisational unit basis is more useful for evaluating divisional management rather than company as a whole.

Despite some of the above disadvantages, segment reporting is important as the number and size of the companies are increasing, as foreign operations increases and companies continues to diversify. This will provide adequate information to the users of general purpose financial statements to make well-informed judgement. 

APPLICABILITY OF THE AS -17

This Standard is mandatory in nature and effective in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1st April, 2001 in respect of following :

1. Enterprises whose shares or securities are listed in a recognised stock exchange in India.

2. Enterprises who are in the process of issuing equity or securities which will be listed in a recognised stock exchange in India.

3. All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises with the turnover exceeding Rs.50 crores during an accounting period.

It is very easy to identify  entities covered under (1) above.  As  far as enterprises fall under category described in two above, the standard clarifies that Board of Directors resolution should be the basis. The practical difficulty will be at what stage the Board  resolution should be considered appears to be left to the best judgement of the management.  Probably the right time will be when there is a clear mandate given by the board to the merchant bankers  about the proposed issue.

The word “enterprise” include even non-corporate entity. Therefore it is not very clear from the standard whether the non-corporate entities with turnover exceeding Rs. 50 crores turnover required to comply with this standard.  Further no clear definition of turnover is provided.  Turnover as explained in Guidance Note on Terms Used in Financial Statements as the aggregate amount for which sales are effected or services rendered by an enterprise.  Therefore other income will not form part of the turnover.

SCOPE:

This Standard should be applied in presenting general purpose financial statement of an enterprise to whom the Standard applies. If an enterprise required to present consolidated financial statement then this Standard might be applied only in respect consolidated statements.  This Standard should be complied in full.  All subsidiary companies should comply with this standard irrespective of the parent company complying with this Standard in its Consolidated Financial statement, if they fall under one of three category stated  under the sub head “Applicability of the Standard” above.

CONCEPTUAL BASIS FOR SEGMENTAL REPORTING:

As the Business organisations  have become more complex over the years, and the conglomerate form of organisation is becoming  more popular, it has become necessary to concede that financial statements which present the full scope of an enterprise’s operations have declined markedly in utility.  While it is certainly possible to assess the overall financial health of the entity using such financial reports, it is much more difficult to evaluate management’s operating and  financial strategies, particularly with regard to its emphasis on specific lines of business.  For example, the extent to which operating results for a period are the result of development of new products with greater potential for the future growth vs mature product lines which nonetheless still account for a majority of the entity’s total sales, would be largely masked in financial statements which did not present results by business segment.

RULES FOR  IDENTIFICATION OF SEGMENT

AS 17 clearly lay down the basis for determining the various business and geographical segment.  It is very explicitly states that the reporting entities internal organisation and financial reporting system should be used to identify the business segment and either asset base or customer base or both should be used for identifying the geographical segment.  Asset base normally means location of factories or service centres. 

The responsibility of identifying the various business segment is the Directors’ or management’s responsibility.  Therefore they should use proper diligence and care in identifying various business and geographical segment.

Understanding by  the enterprises , the business segment or geographical segment , what it means, will be a difficult task for many enterprises.  Some may inclined to define  a segment in an overly broad fashion, to reduce the amount of disaggregated information which they present.  However, there may be legitimate problems which may raise on this matter.  examples:

1. What will be a segment for a motor car manufacture? Is it a single segment or a multiple segment like small car, Midsize car and luxury segment.

2. What will be business segments for a civil construction company where substantial assets are common for various types of projects?

3. What will the business segment for software industry? 

4. Whether the regions or states within India can be a geographical segment?

Just to elaborate on this let us take an example of a component manufacturer for automobile industry. The company may supply components to original equipment manufactures(OEM) or to the semi assemblers or to the distributors/retailer.  In presenting segment data, the enterprise may reach at least four distinct conclusions on how to define a segment, which may be:

1. It might argue that the entire business represents a single segment;

2. It could find it proper to group certain kind of components in to a segment;

3. It might also try divide market segment in to OEM and non-OEM;

The fact that a product or service line is produced in a separate unit or division may or may not be determinative as separate segment.  Thus internal accounting data might be usable for segment reporting , but might also need to be reclassified for this purpose.

As there are very few precedents available in this respect in India, it is very difficult to comment on these issues. Inferences may be drawn from overseas, which need not followed verbatim but can be ball path to follow.

Practices followed by some of Indian companies are enclosed in Annexure 

Some of the international practices are narrated below:

A company engaged in Telecommunication  (Hongkong based) divided its business segment as follows    

It considers geographical segment as primary and given details of turnover, operating profits an net operating assets for location like Hongkong, Other  Asia, UK, Other Europe, Caribbean, North America, Rest of the world.

It considers that it is a single business segment company but classified the turnover as International Service, Domestic services and Others.

A Five Star Hotel chain classified its business segment as Hotels, Betting & Gaming, Retail, Property. 

A Newyork based Banking company decided to gives the geographical details of its revenue, net income and total assets in location United kingdom, Europe, Canada, Far East and Africa, United States.  

Since India is a vast country with regional disparities politically, socially and economically, the Standard rightly emphasised on criteria like special risk associated with operation in an area instead of in a country and also explained that a geographical segment can be a region within a country.

RULES FOR DISCLOSURE:

The Standard clearly lay down the segment reporting should be in two parts. 

1. Primary Segment.

2. Secondary segment.

Which will be primary and secondary segment should be selected taking in to account the concentration of business risk and internal monitoring process followed by the management.  At times a conflict may arise that one may feel that both business segment and geographical segment based on location of customers are equally important. In such cases, the best way to disclose the dual primary segment in a matrix form. 

10% threshold limit is used as basis to eliminate minor segment performance reporting.  However, the inter segment sales need to be considered for  arriving at gross revenue of a segment.  The accounting theory all along and as supported by ICAI, emphasised  that the internal sales should not be considered in financial statements.  But now it is given such an importance that internal sales is equally important to evaluate the risk associated with organisation as whole.  This may be a shift in focus.  The transfer pricing will be an issue.  Normally price fixed by the management should be acceptable and to be followed consistently. 

The example given in the Standard is sufficiently explains how to identify the reportable segment. Same  accounting policy should be generally  used for deriving segment results as used for reporting the financial statements. Otherwise proper disclosure of the different accounting policy used should be explained.  Explanatory note may be given for basis used for certain allocation for segment reporting.

To make it clear it also required including descriptions of activities of each segment.

It is mandatory to disclose segment revenue (both external and internal), segment results, closing balance of segment assets, fixed assets and intangibles acquired during the year, depreciation, amortisation and deferred revenue charged during the year and any other significant non-cash charge during the year.  Segment cash flow is purely optional.  These disclosure may be made in the notes forming part of the accounts.

The common operating expenses other than those specially excluded from the definition of segment cost need to be allocated to each business or geographical segment.  Common costs are operating expenses incurred by the enterprise for the benefit of more than one segment. These cost must be allocated on reasonable basis to those segments which derive the benefit.  The basis of allocation may be revenue, direct cost, operating profit before common cost or tangible assets. Item which cannot be allocated other than on arbitrary basis should not be allocated. The method used for allocation of common operating expenses will be  different by each orgnisation  which will make comparison between similar organisation difficult. Sometimes such costs will be so significant too. 

It is not clear from the standard that if an enterprise has only single business and geographical segment, what will be the disclosure required.  In such situation, it may be  more appropriate to clarify properly in the financial statement about the same in detail.

CONFLICTS WITH PRESENT PRACTICE:

Presently Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 requires certain additional information to be given in the financial statement.  They are:

1. The Turnover, that is, the aggregate amount of sales giving the amount of sales in respect each class of goods dealt by the company and indicating the quantities of such sales for each class separately with thresh hold limit  of 10%. Also similar details for services.

2. Details of principle raw-materials and components consumed with quantitative details.

3. Details of opening and closing stock with quantitative details.

4. Details of Licensed and installed capacity, actual production in quantity.

5. Details of traded goods.

6. FOB value of exports and foreign exchange earnings and expenditure.

Further corporate governance as per the listing agreement requires Board of Directors to give information about operating divisions and business segments.

The details required to be given as per Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 is in a way giving the reader of the financial statement details of various segments to some extent. They are more detailed in terms  of products detail but where not so much on contribution oriented.  Since the segment reporting now give so much details about contribution from each segment to the performance of the company, a question arises, whether it is necessary for giving so many details as required under Schedule VI particularly after amendment to the Companies Act made some time back recognising the Accounting Standards of ICAI in section 211.    

CONCLUSION:

It is not clear whether AS-17 is applicable to non- corporate entities.  A clarification from ICAI is welcome on this.  However, it is a welcome step to make the public financial statements more transparent and informative.  For practicing accountants it certainly beneficial as they can use comparison test with industry parameters which is presently rather difficult. It gives also an opportunity to advice the corporate management with regard to compliance with this Standards.

E X A M P L E S

ICICI

Segmental Disclosures

The varied banking and finance activities of ICICI are carried out by a number of legal entities. Thus, while the parent company focuses primarily on medium-term and long-term industrial financing, other activities such as commercial banking, investment banking, retail distribution, broking and venture capital  activities are conducted by fully or majority owned subsidiaries. Each subsidiary focuses on specific activities.

Accordingly, management has identified each of these legal entities as operating segments. Based on business volumes, revenues, income and asset size, management considers industrial financing, commercial banking and investment banking as reportable segments.

The industrial financing segment (ICICI Limited) provides medium-term and long-term project and infrastructure financing, securitization and factoring and lease financing. The commercial banking segment (ICICI Bank Limited) provides working capital finance and foreign exchange services to clients. Further, it provides deposit and loan products to retail customers. The investment banking segment (ICICI Securities and Finance Company Limited) deals in the debt, equity and money markets and provides corporate advisory products such as mergers and acquisition advice, loan syndication advise and issue management services.  

The profit and loss of the reportable segments is set out below :






(In millions)

Year ended March 31,


Industrial Financing
Commercial banking
Investment banking


1998

Rs.
1999

Rs.
2000

Rs.
1998

Rs.
1999

Rs.
2000

Rs.
1998

Rs.
1999

Rs.
2000

Revenues from external customers










Interest revenue
51,234
63,885
70,603
2,621
5,471
8,434
1,001
1,384
2,176

Other revenue
4,033
3,987
6,264
635
844
1,718
514
338
722

Revenues from other operating segments










Interest revenue
223
410
498
---
---
---
36
123
181

Other revenue
210
144
118
24
11
41
27
26
36

Total revenue
55,700
68,426
77,483
3,280
6,326
10,193
1,578
1,871
3,115

Interest expenses
39,991
52,800
59,840
1,757
4,255
6,656
698
1,103
1,467

Depreciation
181
276
330
145
175
201
24
24
18

Provision for credit losses
4,302
5,497
5,847
294
465
427
162
106
76

Other expenses
1,752
2,423
3,710
501
625
1,128
457
343
383

Income before taxes
9,474
7,430
7,756
583
806
1,781
237
295
1,171

Income tax expenses
1,194
834
890
171
201
379
60
97
401

Gains on extinguishment of debt, net of tax
--
292
--
--
--
--
--
--
--

Effect of change in an accounting principle
--
--
249
--
--
--
--
--
--

Net Income
8,280
6,888
7,115
412
605
1,402
177
198
770

A listing of certain assets of reportable segments is set out below :

















(In Millions)

As of March, 31
Industrial Financing
Commercial banking
Investment banking


1999

Rs.
2000

Rs.
1999

Rs.
2000

Rs.
1999

Rs.
2000

Rs.

Property and equipment
6,186
8,986
1,629
2,097
152
130

Investment in affiliate
244
264
--
--
--
--

Transactions between reporting segments are at arms-length and are accounted for similar to transactions with external parties.

A reconciliation between the segment revenues and consolidated totals of ICICI is set out below :

Year ended March 31,
Total revenue
Income before taxes
Net income


1998

Rs.
1999

Rs.
2000

Rs.
1998

Rs.
1999

Rs.
2000

Rs.
1998

Rs.
1999

Rs.
2000

Industrial financing
55,700
68,426
77,483
9,474
7,430
7,756
8,280
6,888
7,115

Commercial banking
3,280
6,326
10,193
583
806
1,781
412
605
1,402

Investment banking
1,578
1,871
3,115
237
295
1,171
177
198
770

Other operating segments
375
748
1,538
97
207
783
76
145
420

Eliminations
(677)
(936)
(1,795)
(155)
(318)
(376)
(155)
(318)
(376)

Total
60,256
76,435
90,534
10,236
8,420
11,115
8,790
7,518
9,331

A reconciliation between the segment assets and consolidated totals of ICICI is set out below :

(In Millions)


As of March 31


1999
2000

Industrial Financing
571,579
641,994

Commercial banking
74,293
130,416

Investment banking
15,109
23,254

Other operating segments
3,402
3,907

Eliminations
(11,038)
(18,887)

Total
653,345
780,684

Geographic distribution
The business operations of ICICI are largely concentrated in India. Activities outside India are restricted to resource mobilisation in the international markets. Accordingly, the entire revenue, assets and net income are attributed to Indian operations.

Major customers
ICICI provides banking and financial services to a wide base of customers. There is no major customer which contributes more than 10% of total revenues.

Related Parties
ICICI has advanced housing, vehicle and general purpose loans to employees, bearing interest ranging from 3.5% to 6%. The tenures of these loans range from 5 years to 25 years. The loans are generally secured by the assets acquired by the employees. Further, a subsidiary has advanced loans at 16% to its employees for purchase of its equity shares. Employee loan balances outstanding as of March, 31, 2000 of Rs. 773 million (1999 : Rs. 781 million) are included in other assets.

The estimated fair value of such loans as of March 31, 2000 amounts to Rs. 339 million (1999 : Rs. 343 million). These amounts have been determined using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgement is required to develop the estimates of fair value. Thus, the estimates provided herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in the market.

Satyam

Geographical Segment-wise reporting

March 31,




Net Revenue



1999

1998

1997


US$
%
US$
%
US$
%

USA
79,877,525
79.40
34,965,571
68.12
21,379,091
83.63

Canada
2,575,413
2.56
1,398,423
2.72
251,520
0.98

Japan
3,657,673
3.64
3,539,724
6.90
503,037
1.97

Europe
6,318,472
6.28
3,959,370
7.72
1,509,112
5.90

India
3,197,342
3.18
2,030,305
3.96
338,529
1.32

Rest of the world (ROW)
4,973,841
4.94
5,433,365
10.58
1,583,556
6.20

Total
100,600,266
100.00
51,326,758
100.00
25,564,845
100.00

Business segment-wise reporting

March 31,


1999

1998

1997


Operating Income (Loss)

(P/(L)BIDT)
Net revenue
Net Revenue



US$
%
US$
%
US$
%

Software Development and Maintenance Services
34,779,746
89,509,302
88.98
47,604,441
92.75
25,151,872
98.38

Business Process Re-engineering
91,546
872,446
0.87
3,067,014
5.96
412,973
1.62

End-to-End IT Solutions
1,709,697
7,789,081
7.74
655,303
1.29
-
-

Electronic Commerce*
(2,177,145)
2,429,437
2.41
-
-
-
-

Total
34,403,844
100,600,266
100.00
51,326,758
100.00
25,564,845
100.00

· Commercial operations commenced during the year under report.

Identifiable Fixed Assets - Business Segment-wise

US$

Particulars
March 31,1999
March31,1998
March 31,1997

Software Development and Maintenance Services


57,711,151
35,787,971
25,834,010

Business Process Re-engineering


165,147
84,307
90,778

End-to-End IT Solutions


925,915
476,664
-

Electronic Commerce


5,298,789
4,009,304
-

Total
64,101,002
40,358,246
25,924,788

Segment reporting

Revenue by geographic area


2000
1999
1998

North America
$ 158,723,649
$ 99,203,989
$ 56,211,753

Europe
30,064,939
11,302,791
6,179,621

India
2,912,091
2,051,492
1,799,368

Rest of the world
11,743,075
8,396,954
4,139,219


$ 203,443,754
$ 120,955,225
$ 68,329,961

SFAS No.131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information requires that an enterprise report a measure of profit or loss and total assets for each reportable segment. Certain expenses such as personnel costs, communication, depreciation on plant and machinery, etc., which form a significant component of total expenses, are not specifically allocable to these geographic segments as the underlying services are used interchangeably between reportable segments. Management believes that it is not practical to provide segment disclosures relating to segment costs and expenses, and consequently segment profits or losses, since a realistic allocation cannot be made. The fixed assets used in the company's business are not identifiable to any particular reportable segment and can be used interchangeably among segments. Consequently, management believes that it is not practical to provide segment disclosures relating to total assets since a realistic analysis among the various geographic segments is not possible.

Significant clients

No client accounted for more than 10% of the revenues in fiscal 2000 and 1999, respectively. One client accounted for 10.5% of revenues in fiscal 1998.

ACCOUNTING STANDARD 18
R E L A T E D   P A R T Y  D I S C L O S U R E S

(In this Accounting Standard, the standard portions have been set in bold italic type. These should be read in the context of the background material which has been set in normal type, and in the context of the 'Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards'.) 
The following is the text of Accounting Standard (AS) 18, 'Related Party Disclosures', issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Standard comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2001 and is mandatory in nature. 
Objective
The objective of this Statement is to establish requirements for disclosure of:

(a) related party relationships; and

(b) transactions between a reporting enterprise and its related parties. 

Scope
1. This Statement should be applied in reporting related party relationships and transactions between a reporting enterprise and its related parties. The requirements of this Statement apply to the financial statements of each reporting enterprise as also to consolidated financial statements presented by a holding company. 
2. This Statement applies only to related party relationships described in paragraph 3. 
3. This Statement deals only with related party relationships described in (a) to (e) below:

(a) enterprises that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or are under common control with, the reporting enterprise (this includes holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);

(b) associates and joint ventures of the reporting enterprise and the investing party or venturer in respect of which the reporting enterprise is an associate or a joint venture;

(c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the reporting enterprise that gives them control or significant influence over the enterprise, and relatives of any such individual;

(d) key management personnel and relatives of such personnel; and

(e) enterprises over which any person described in (c) or (d) is able to exercise significant influence. This includes enterprises owned by directors or major shareholders of the reporting enterprise and enterprises that have a member of key management in common with the reporting enterprise. 

4. In the context of this Statement, the following are deemed not to be related parties:

(a) two companies simply because they have a director in common, notwithstanding paragraph 3(d) or (e) above (unless the director is able to affect the policies of both companies in their mutual dealings);

(b) a single customer, supplier, franchiser, distributor, or general agent with whom an enterprise transacts a significant volume of business merely by virtue of the resulting economic dependence; and

(c) the parties listed below, in the course of their normal dealings with an enterprise by virtue only of those dealings (although they may circumscribe the freedom of action of the enterprise or participate in its decision-making process):

(i) providers of finance;
(ii) trade unions;
(iii) public utilities;
(iv) government departments and government agencies including government sponsored bodies. 

5. Related party disclosure requirements as laid down in this Statement do not apply in circumstances where providing such disclosures would conflict with the reporting enterprise's duties of confidentiality as specifically required in terms of a statute or by any regulator or similar competent authority. 
6. In case a statute or a regulator or a similar competent authority governing an enterprise prohibit the enterprise to disclose certain information which is required to be disclosed as per this Statement, disclosure of such information is not warranted. For example, banks are obliged by law to maintain confidentiality in respect of their customers' transactions and this Statement would not override the obligation to preserve the confidentiality of customers' dealings.
7. No disclosure is required in consolidated financial statements in respect of intra-group transactions. 
8. Disclosure of transactions between members of a group is unnecessary in consolidated financial statements because consolidated financial statements present information about the holding and its subsidiaries as a single reporting enterprise.
9. No disclosure is required in the financial statements of state-controlled enterprises as regards related party relationships with other state-controlled enterprises and transactions with such enterprises. 
Definitions
10. For the purpose of this Statement, the following terms are used with the meanings specified: 
Related party - parties are considered to be related if at any time during the reporting period one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and/or operating decisions. 
Control – (a) ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than one half of the voting power of an enterprise, or 

(b) control of the composition of the board of directors in the case of a company or of the composition of the corresponding governing body in case of any other enterprise, or 

(c) a substantial interest in voting power and the power to direct, by statute or agreement, the 

financial and/or operating policies of the enterprise. 
Significant influence - participation in the financial and/or operating policy decisions of an enterprise, but not control of those policies. 
An Associate - an enterprise in which an investing reporting party has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture of that party. 
A Joint venture - a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity which is subject to joint control. 
Joint control - the contractually agreed sharing of power to govern the financial and operating policies of an economic activity so as to obtain benefits from it. 
Key management personnel - those persons who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the reporting enterprise. 
Relative – in relation to an individual, means the spouse, son, daughter, brother, sister, father and mother who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in his/her dealings with the reporting enterprise. 
Holding company - a company having one or more subsidiaries. 
Subsidiary - a company:

(a) in which another company (the holding company) holds, either by itself and/or through one or more subsidiaries, more than one-half in nominal value of its equity share capital; or

(b) of which another company (the holding company) controls, either by itself and/or through one or more subsidiaries, the composition of its board of directors. 
Fellow subsidiary - a company is considered to be a fellow subsidiary of another company if both are subsidiaries of the same holding company. 
State-controlled enterprise - an enterprise which is under the control of the Central Government and/or any State Government(s). 


11. For the purpose of this Statement, an enterprise is considered to control the composition of

(i) the board of directors of a company, if it has the power, without the consent or concurrence of any other person, to appoint or remove all or a majority of directors of that company. An enterprise is deemed to have the power to appoint a director if any of the following conditions is satisfied: 

(a) a person cannot be appointed as director without the exercise in his favour by that enterprise of such a power as aforesaid; or

(b) a person's appointment as director follows necessarily from his appointment to a position held by him in that enterprise; or

(c) the director is nominated by that enterprise; in case that enterprise is a company, the director is nominated by that company/subsidiary thereof. 

(ii) the governing body of an enterprise that is not a company, if it has the power, without the consent or the concurrence of any other person, to appoint or remove all or a majority of members of the governing body of that other enterprise. An enterprise is deemed to have the power to appoint a member if any of the following conditions is satisfied:

(a) a person cannot be appointed as member of the governing body without the exercise in his favour by that other enterprise of such a power as aforesaid; or

(b) a person's appointment as member of the governing body follows necessarily from his appointment to a position held by him in that other enterprise; or

(c) the member of the governing body is nominated by that other enterprise. 

12. An enterprise is considered to have a substantial interest in another enterprise if that enterprise owns, directly or indirectly, 20 per cent or more interest in the voting power of the other enterprise. Similarly, an individual is considered to have a substantial interest in an enterprise, if that individual owns, directly or indirectly, 20 per cent or more interest in the voting power of the enterprise. 

13. Significant influence may be exercised in several ways, for example, by representation on the board of directors, participation in the policy making process, material inter-company transactions, interchange of managerial personnel, or dependence on technical information. Significant influence may be gained by share ownership, statute or agreement. As regards share ownership, if an investing party holds, directly or indirectly through intermediaries, 20 per cent or more of the voting power of the enterprise, it is presumed that the investing party does have significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. Conversely, if the investing party holds, directly or indirectly through intermediaries , less than 20 per cent of the voting power of the enterprise, it is presumed that the investing party does not have significant influence, unless such influence can be clearly demonstrated. A substantial or majority ownership by another investing party does not necessarily preclude an investing party from having significant influence. 

14. Key management personnel are those persons who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the reporting enterprise. For example, in the case of a company, the managing director(s), whole time director(s), manager and any person in accordance with whose directions or instructions the board of directors of the company is accustomed to act, are usually considered key management personnel.
The Related Party Issue
15. Related party relationships are a normal feature of commerce and business. For example, enterprises frequently carry on separate parts of their activities through subsidiaries or associates and acquire interests in other enterprises - for investment purposes or for trading reasons - that are of sufficient proportions for the investing enterprise to be able to control or exercise significant influence on the financial and/or operating decisions of its investee.
16. Without related party disclosures, there is a general presumption that transactions reflected in financial statements are consummated on an arm's-length basis between independent parties. However, that presumption may not be valid when related party relationships exist because related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties would not enter into. Also, transactions between related parties may not be effected at the same terms and conditions as between unrelated parties. Sometimes, no price is charged in related party transactions, for example, free provision of management services and the extension of free credit on a debt. In view of the aforesaid, the resulting accounting measures may not represent what they usually would be expected to represent. Thus, a related party relationship could have an effect on the financial position and operating results of the reporting enterprise. 

17. The operating results and financial position of an enterprise may be affected by a related party relationship even if related party transactions do not occur. The mere existence of the relationship may be sufficient to affect the transactions of the reporting enterprise with other parties. For example, a subsidiary may terminate relations with a trading partner on acquisition by the holding company of a fellow subsidiary engaged in the same trade as the former partner. Alternatively, one party may refrain from acting because of the control or significant influence of another - for example, a subsidiary may be instructed by its holding company not to engage in research and development.
18. Because there is an inherent difficulty for management to determine the effect of influences which do not lead to transactions, disclosure of such effects is not required by this Statement.
19. Sometimes, transactions would not have taken place if the related party relationship had not existed. For example, a company that sold a large proportion of its production to its holding company at cost might not have found an alternative customer if the holding company had not purchased the goods. 

Disclosure
20. The statutes governing an enterprise often require disclosure in financial statements of transactions with certain categories of related parties. In particular, attention is focussed on transactions with the directors or similar key management personnel of an enterprise, especially their remuneration and borrowings, because of the fiduciary nature of their relationship with the enterprise.
21. Name of the related party and nature of the related party relationship where control exists should be disclosed irrespective of whether or not there have been transactions between the related parties. 
22. Where the reporting enterprise controls, or is controlled by, another party, this information is relevant to the users of financial statements irrespective of whether or not transactions have taken place with that party. This is because the existence of control relationship may prevent the reporting enterprise from being independent in making its financial and/or operating decisions. The disclosure of the name of the related party and the nature of the related party relationship where control exists may sometimes be at least as relevant in appraising an enterprise's prospects as are the operating results and the financial position presented in its financial statements. Such a related party may establish the enterprise's credit standing, determine the source and price of its raw materials, and determine to whom and at what price the product is sold. 

23. If there have been transactions between related parties, during the existence of a related party relationship, the reporting enterprise should disclose the following: 

(i) the name of the transacting related party;

(ii) a description of the relationship between the parties;

(iii) a description of the nature of transactions;

(iv) volume of the transactions either as an amount or as an appropriate proportion;

(v) any other elements of the related party transactions necessary for an understanding of the financial statements;

(vi) the amounts or appropriate proportions of outstanding items pertaining to related parties at the balance sheet date and provisions for doubtful debts due from such parties at that date; and

(vii) amounts written off or written back in the period in respect of debts due from or to related parties. 
24. The following are examples of the related party transactions in respect of which disclosures may be made by a reporting enterprise:

* purchases or sales of goods (finished or unfinished);

* purchases or sales of fixed assets;

* rendering or receiving of services;

* agency arrangements;

* leasing or hire purchase arrangements;

* transfer of research and development; 

* licence agreements;

* finance (including loans and equity contributions in cash or in kind);

* guarantees and collaterals; and

* management contracts including for deputation of employees. 

25. Paragraph 23 (v) requires disclosure of 'any other elements of the related party transactions necessary for an understanding of the financial statements'. An example of such a disclosure would be an indication that the transfer of a major asset had taken place at an amount materially different from that obtainable on normal commercial terms. 

26. Items of a similar nature may be disclosed in aggregate by type of related party. 



NOTES ON RELATED  PARTY DISCLOSURE (AS 18) 

(   Shri Harish Gupta

Objective of AS-18

The objective of AS-18 is to specify the disclosures required for transactions with related parties.  Parties are considered to be related, if one party has the ability to control the other party or to exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.

     Related party relationships are a normal feature of business. Enterprise often carries on separate parts of their activity through subsidiaries \ associates.  They also acquire interests in other entities (say for investment or trading purposes) Such interests some times allow them to gain control or exercise significant influence on financial and operating decisions of their investees.

     Related party may enter into transactions, which unrelated parties would not enter into.  Also, transactions between related parties might not be effected at the same terms and conditions as between unrelated parties.  Some times, no price is charged in related party transactions such as on sharing of Research and Development, Management services and free credit on debt etc., Thus a related party relationship could affect the financial position and operating results of a reporting enterprise.

     The Accounting Standard-18 requires the reporting enterprise to disclose in its financial statements, related party relationships, irrespective of whether or not there have been transactions between such related parties.

     There could be many situations where related party transactions might lead to disclosures by a reporting enterprise.  Some of these include purchases or sales of goods, rendering or receiving services, license agreements, guarantees and collateral's, and management contracts.

Existing legal provisions:   

Under Companies Act, l956  

     Under the provisions of Companies Act managers, director, companies under the same management (as defined Section 370) and subsidiaries are considered related parties. In accordance with the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditors' Report) Order (MAOCARO) the report of the statutory auditors to the members must contain, among other things, a statement to the following effect.

Clause 4A

(vii) if the company has taken any loans, secured or unsecured, from firms or other parties listed in the register maintained under Section 301 of Companies Act and \ or from companies under the same management as defined under sub-section  (1B) of section 370 whether the rate of interest and other terms and conditions of such loans are prima facie prejudicial to the interest of the company, 

(viii) if the company ha granted any loans secured or unsecured, to the companies, firms or other parties listed the Register of  Contracts maintained under Section 301 and \ or to the companies under the same management, whether the rate of interest and other terms and conditions of such loans are prima facie prejudicial to the interest of the company, 

(xi) whether the transactions of purchase of the goods and materials and sale of goods, materials and services, made in pursuance of the contract or arrangements entered in the register(s) maintained under Section 301 of The Companies Act as aggregating during the year to Rs. 50,000 or more in respect of each party have been made at prices which reasonable having regard to the prevailing market prices for such goods, materials, or services or the prices at which transactions for similar goods or services have been made with other parties.

Part I of Schedule VI of the Companies Act require related party disclosures about assets, liabilities and calls in arrears and host of other items for the benefit of the shareholders.  Section 295 prohibits the grant of loan to a director of a public company or its holding company or any partner or relative of such director, to any firm in which such director is a partner, to any private company of which any such director is a director or member, etc.  Section 297 regulates contracts for the sale, purchase or supply of any goods, materials or services etc.

Under Income tax Act, l961

Under Section 40 A (2)(b) any expenditure incurred by an assessee in respect of which payment has been made to relatives of specified persons (related persons) is liable to be disallowed in computing business profits to the extent such expenditure is considered to be excessive or unreasonable, having regard to the fair market value of goods or services or facilities etc.,

This is required to be reported in form 3 CD; clause 18 in the statement of particulars attached to the Report u/s 44 AB of the Income tax Act, l961.

What is related party relationship?

This statement applies only to 5 types of relationships described in paragraph 3 as under:

  (a)                                (b)                           (c)                         (d)                         (e)









Some important definitions

Control:

(a) ownership directly or indirectly of more than half of the voting power, or

(b) Control the composition of the Board of Directors/ Governing body.

(c) A substantial interest in voting power (20%) and the power to direct the financial and \ or operating polices of enterprise.

Significant influence:

Participation in the financial and \ or policy decisions (but not the control of those policies)

Relatives:

Spouse, son, daughter, brother, sister, father and mother will be treated as relatives if and only if they are expected to influence or be influenced by the reporting enterprise.

Key Management personnel:

Those persons who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the reporting enterprise.  In case of a company the Managing director(s), whole time director(s), manager and any person on whose directions the board of directors of the company is accustomed to act, are usually considered Key management personnel.  

The following will not be treated as related parties:

1. Two companies merely by having director in common (unless the director is able to affect the policies of both companies in their mutual dealings)

2. A large customer, supplier, franchiser, distributor, or general agent.

3. Providers of finance, trade unions, public utilities, government departments and agencies in the course of their normal dealings with an enterprise.

The statement will not be applicable in the following cases

1. If such information conflicts with duties of confidentiality.

2. If such information is prohibited by any statute.

3. No such disclosure is required in consolidated financial statements in respect of intra group transactions.

4. No such disclosure is required in the financial statements of State controlled enterprise

Disclosures:

A. When there are no transactions between related parties:-

Name of the related party and nature of related party relationship should be disclosed where control exists.

B. If there have been transactions between related parties:-

     Reporting enterprise should disclose the following during the existence of a related party relationship: -

1. Name of the related parties.

2. Description of relationship.

3. Nature of transaction.

4. Volume of transaction either in amount or an appropriate proportion.

5. Any other element of transaction necessary for understanding the financial statements. 

6.  (a) Amount or appropriate proportion of outstanding item at the end of the year.

          (b) Provision for doubtful debts due from such parties at that date.

7. Amounts written off or written back during the period in respect of debts due from or to related parties.

8) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS


    At December 31, 1998, the Company held approximately 8% of the outstanding shares of Universal Health Realty Income Trust (the "Trust"). Certain officers and directors of the Company are also officers and/or Directors of the Trust. The Company accounts for its investment in the Trust using the equity method of accounting. The Company's pre-tax share of income from the Trust was $1.1 million in each year ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, and is included in net revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. The carrying value of this investment at December 31, 1998 and 1997 was $8.2 million and $8.3 million, respectively, and is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The market value of this investment at December 31, 1998 and 1997 was $13.7 million and $15.3 million, respectively.

    As of December 31, 1998, the Company leased seven hospital facilities from the Trust with terms expiring in 2000 through 2006. These leases contain up to six 5-year renewal options. During 1998, the Company exercised five-year renewal options on four hospitals leased from the Trust which were scheduled to expire in 1999 through 2001. The leases on these facilities were renewed at the same lease rates and terms as the initial leases. Future minimum lease payments to the Trust are included in Note 6. Total rent expense under these operating leases was $16.5 million in 1998, $16.3 million in 1997 and $16.2 million in 1996. The terms of the lease provide that in the event the Company discontinues operations at the leased facility for more than one year, the Company is obligated to offer a substitute property. If the Trust does not accept the substitute property offered, the Company is obligated to purchase the leased facility back from the Trust at a price equal to the greater of its then fair market value or the original purchase price paid by the Trust. The Company received an advisory fee of $1.2 million in 1998, $1.1 million in 1997, and $1.0 million in 1996 from the Trust for investment and administrative services provided under a contractual agreement which is included in net revenues in the accompanying consolidated statement of income.



    A member of the Company's Board of Directors is a partner in the law firm used by the Company as its principal outside counsel. Another member of the Company's Board of Directors is a managing director of one of the underwriters who performed investment-banking services related to the Common Stock issued during 1996.


DISCLOSURES MADE BY CERTAIN COMPANIES (EXAMPLES)

Statement of Accounts 1999/2000

Disclosure Notes: Related Party Transactions 
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Statement of Accounts 1999/2000

Disclosure Notes: Associated & Subsidiary Companies 




The Authority is involved with a number of associated and subsidiary companies, all of which the Authority either controls or has a dominating influence in. In overall terms the assets and liabilities of these associated and subsidiary companies are not material to the accounts and are therefore excluded from the Authority's financial statements. However, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards 2 and 8, information about the following companies has been disclosed :

A. Leeds Bradford International Airport Ltd 
B. Leeds Partnership Homes 
C. Leeds Grand Theatre & Opera House Ltd 
D. Leeds City Development Company (1983) Ltd 

E. Craft Centre & Design Gallery Company Ltd 

F. Green Leeds Limited 

G. Northern College for Residential Adult Education Ltd 



Statement of Accounts 1999/2000

Disclosure Notes: Associated & Subsidiary Companies:

Leeds Bradford International Airport Ltd
(Companies House registration No. 2065958) 

[image: image2]

Nature of the Business 

The principal activity of the company is the operation of a Regional and International Airport. 

Relationship with the Authority 

  The Authority has invested in the company by way of a debenture loan (the current balance stands at £944k and also holds 40% of the shareholding of the company. 

  The Authority holds a 40% share in the Airport. In the event that the Airport should cease trading, the Authority would receive 40% of the net assets. 

  In addition, the Authority is considered liable for 40% of all deficits the Airport may incur. 

Financial Performance 

  In 1999/2000 the Airport made a net profit before tax of £3,910k and a net profit after tax of £2,701k (in 1998/99 £4,063k and £2,837k respectively). 

  It has net assets of £30,224k (£27,523k in 1998/99). 

Transactions and services with the Company 

In 1999/2000 payments received on the debenture amounted to £100,827 for interest and £40,113 principal (in 1998/99 £104,565 and £36,466 respectively). 

In addition to the long term investment the following services are provided and charged to the airport:

Engineering Services  £60,891

Noise Monitoring £37,788

Interest on Variable Loans £464,674

Environmental Services £51,776

Accounts 

The Accounts for 1999/2000 for Leeds Bradford International Airport Ltd are still subject to Board approval. 

The Financial Accounts of Leeds Bradford International Airport can be obtained from Leeds Bradford International Airport Ltd, Yeadon, Leeds, LS19 7TZ.



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
28.
RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE
 

In order to protect its capital position following the economic and financial events in Russia in August 1998, the Bank has entered into agreements with its majority shareholder and controlling party, the Central Bank of Russia (CBR), over Moscow Narodny Bank’s holding of Principal Notes (‘Prins’ - issued under the December 1997 London Club settlement of Former Soviet Union commercial bank loans). 

 

9.          The carrying book amount of the Prins, which are subject to the above agreement, on the Bank’s balance sheet under Loans and Advances is US$270m (£167.1m) at 31st December 1999. The current market value of such Prins is US$40m (£24.8 m). No further provisions have been made, or are required, against the carrying amount, as the agreements, which are collateralised by an aggregate of US$270m (£167.1m) of deposits previously placed with MNB, provide that if the CBR seeks to withdraw the deposits, or fails to extend the deposit contracts beyond the term of the agreement, the Bank may, at its option, put such Prins to the CBR at a price equivalent to a maximum of US$270m (£167.1m). 

 

10.          The Bank’s right to retain any future interest proceeds received by the Bank in respect of the Prins has been passed to the CBR.

 

11.          The agreements are unaffected by any rescheduling of London Club debt which might take place in the future.

 

Since the year end, it has been agreed between the Bank and the CBR that, with effect from 1st January 2000, the Bank shall not be under any obligation to accrue or make any payment of interest in respect of the deposits used to collateralise the above agreements.

 

In addition, in the normal course of business, the bank conducts transactions with the CBR and other financial institutions, which are, related parties as defined in Financial Reporting Standard 8. Such business is conducted at prevailing market rates and terms and includes deposits taken.

Extracts of Related Party International Standards on Auditing  (ISA) 17

Introduction

2. The auditor should perform audit procedures designed to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the identification and disclosure by management of related parties and the effect of related party transactions that are material to the financial statements.

Existence and Disclosure of Related Parties

7. The auditor should review information provided by the directors and management identifying the names of all known related parties and should perform the following procedures in respect of the completeness of this information:

      (a).
review prior year working papers  for names of known related parties;

      (b).
review the entity's procedures for identification of related parties;

(c ).
inquire as to the affiliation of directors  and officers with other entities;

(d).
review shareholder records to determine the names of principal shareholders or, if appropriate, obtain a listing of principal shareholders from the shareregister;

(e).
review minutes of the meetings of shareholders and  the board of directors and other relevant statutory records such as the register of directors' interests;

(f).
inquire of other auditors currently involved in the audit, or predecessor auditors, as to their knowledge of additional related parties; and

(g).
review the entity's income tax returns and other information supplied to regulatory agencies.

If in the auditor's judgement the risk of significant related parties remaining undetected is low these procedures may be modified as appropriate.

8. Where the financial reporting framework requires disclosure of related party relationships, the auditor should be satisfied that the disclosure is adequate.

Transactions with Related Parties

9. The auditor should review information provided by directors and management identifying related party transactions and should be alert for other material related party transactions.

10. When obtaining an understanding of the accounting and internal control systems and making a preliminary assessment of control risk, the auditor should consider the adequacy of control procedures over the authorization and recording of related party transactions.

Examining Identified Related Party Transactions

13. In examining the identified related party transactions, the auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to whether these transactions have been properly recorded and disclosed.

Management Representations

15.  
The auditor should obtain a written representation from management concerning:

(a) the completeness of information provided regarding the identification of related parties; and

(b) the adequacy of related party disclosures in the financial statements.

Audit Conclusions and Reporting

16. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence concerning related parties and transactions with such parties or concludes that their disclosure in the financial statements is not adequate, the auditor should modify the audit report appropriately.

ISSUES ON RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (AS 18)

1. In the event the ‘reporting enterprise’ does not comply with the related party disclosure,    what is the requirement solicited from the auditor?  Is he required only to disclose the non-disclosure or he has to also qualify his report?

2. Whether the standard is applicable to proprietary concerns and partnership firms also?

3. The standard deals with related party relationship which interalias includes key management personnel and relatives of such personnel.  Key management personnel has been defined as those persons who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the’ reporting enterprise’.  Does it mean that sales manager, production manager, financial controller etc. are also to be considered as key management personnel. Please clarify who are the persons who would come under the definition key management personnel.

            Would a consultant giving advice in connection with planning be covered under the definition of key management personnel?

4. Would transaction in the nature of donations or gifts to/from related party be covered.  Would free services rendered by/to the ‘reporting enterprises’ to/by a related party be covered by the standard?

5. The standard deals with related party relationship such as enterprises that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or are under common control with, the reporting enterprise (this includes holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries).  Please explain how to determine control?
6. Would all relatives of key management personnel be considered as related party or only relatives who have influence on or be influenced by the ‘reporting enterprise’ be considered as relative?

7. Whether the requirement envisaged in clause 21 in giving the name of the related party   and nature of the related party relationship is required in all cases?

8. ‘A Ltd.’ - a company enters into a transaction with 'B' - a transporter for a continuing contract of transportation of goods for the Financial Year 1st April - 31st March.  On 1st October 'B' becomes a related party to ‘A Ltd.’.  Is 'A Ltd.' required to disclose the entire year’s volume of transaction or only the transaction from 1st October to 31st March?

             Would the answer be different if 'B' does not have any business transaction from 1st  October to 31st March?

9. Clause 26 provides - Items of a similar nature may be disclosed in aggregate by type of  related party.  Please explain the significance of this clause read with clause 23 which requires detailed disclosure qua a transaction and qua a related party.

10. The standard requires the disclosure of related party transactions but is the effect of related party transaction on the operation of the ‘reporting enterprises’ required to be determined and disclosed?

11. Whether the concept of materiality is applicable to this standard?

12. Please explain the scope of the auditor in determining - 

(a) related party relationships; and

(b) transactions between a reporting enterprise and its related parties.

13. Clause 3(e) has a reference to the term major shareholders.   Please advice how to determine major shareholders or enterprises owned by major shareholders.

14. Significant influence is defined as - participation in the financial and/or operating policy decisions of an enterprise, but not control of those policies.  Does it mean any person such as a professional director who only participates in the Board Meeting shall be considered as to have a significant influence?  

ACCOUNTING STANDARD 19
L E A S E S
(In this Accounting Standard, the standard portions have been set in bold italic type. These should be read in the context of the background material which has been set in normal type, and in the context of the ‘Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards’.)
The following is the text of Accounting Standard (AS) 19, ‘Leases’, issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Standard comes into effect in respect of all assets leased during accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.2001 and is mandatory in nature from that date. Accordingly, the ‘Guidance Note on Accounting for Leases’ issued by the Institute in 1995, is not applicable in respect of such assets. Earlier application of this Standard is, however, encouraged.

Objective
The objective of this Statement is to prescribe, for lessees and lessors, the appropriate accounting policies and disclosures in relation to finance leases and operating leases.

Scope
1. This Statement should be applied in accounting for all leases other than:
a. lease agreements to explore for or use natural resources, such as oil, gas, timber, metals and other mineral rights; and 

b. licensing agreements for items such as motion picture films, video recordings, plays, manuscripts, patents and copyrights; and 

c. lease agreements to use lands. 

2. This Statement applies to agreements that transfer the right to use assets even though substantial services by the lessor may be called for in connection with the operation or maintenance of such assets. On the other hand, this Statement does not apply to agreements that are contracts for services that do not transfer the right to use assets from one contracting party to the other.

Definitions
3. The following terms are used in this Statement with the meanings specified:

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment or series of payments the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.

A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of an asset.

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.

A non-cancellable lease is a lease that is cancellable only:

1. upon the occurrence of some remote contingency; or 

2. with the permission of the lessor; or 

3. if the lessee enters into a new lease for the same or an equivalent asset with the same lessor; or 

4. upon payment by the lessee of an additional amount such that, at inception, continuation of the lease is reasonably certain. 

The inception of the lease is the earlier of the date of the lease agreement and the date of a commitment by the parties to the principal provisions of the lease.

The lease term is the non-cancellable period for which the lessee has agreed to take on lease the asset together with any further periods for which the lessee has the option to continue the lease of the asset, with or without further payment, which option at the inception of the lease it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise.

Minimum lease payments are the payments over the lease term that the lessee is, or can be required, to make excluding contingent rent, costs for services and taxes to be paid by and reimbursed to the lessor, together with:

a. in the case of the lessee, any residual value guaranteed by or on behalf of the lessee; or 

b. in the case of the lessor, any residual value guaranteed to the lessor: 

i. by or on behalf of the lessee; or 

ii. by an independent third party financially capable of meeting this guarantee. 

However, if the lessee has an option to purchase the asset at a price which is expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable that, at the inception of the lease, is reasonably certain to be exercised, the minimum lease payments comprise minimum payments payable over the lease term and the payment required to exercise this purchase option.
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction.
Economic life is either:
a. the period over which an asset is expected to be economically usable by one or more users; or 

b. the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by one or more users. 

Useful life of a leased asset is either:
a. the period over which the leased asset is expected to be used by the lessee; or 

b. the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the use of the asset by the lessee. 

Residual value of a leased asset is the estimated fair value of the asset at the end of the lease term.
Guaranteed residual value is:
a. in the case of the lessee, that part of the residual value which is guaranteed by the lessee or by a party on behalf of the lessee (the amount of the guarantee being the maximum amount that could, in any event, become payable); and 

b. in the case of the lessor, that part of the residual value which is guaranteed by or on behalf of the lessee, or by an independent third party who is financially capable of discharging the obligations under the guarantee. 

Unguaranteed residual value of a leased asset is the amount by which the residual value of the asset exceeds its guaranteed residual value.
Gross investment in the lease is the aggregate of the minimum lease payments under a finance lease from the standpoint of the lessor and any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor.
Unearned finance income is the difference between:
a. the gross investment in the lease; and 

b. the present value of 

i. the minimum lease payments under a finance lease from the standpoint of the lessor; and 

ii. any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor, at the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Net investment in the lease is the gross investment in the lease less unearned finance income.
The interest rate implicit in the lease is the discount rate that, at the inception of the lease, causes the aggregate present value of
a. the minimum lease payments under a finance lease from the standpoint of the lessor; and 

b. any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor, to be equal to the fair value of the leased asset. 

The lessee's incremental borrowing rate of interest is the rate of interest the lessee would have to pay on a similar lease or, if that is not determinable, the rate that, at the inception of the lease, the lessee would incur to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to purchase the asset.

Contingent rent is that portion of the lease payments that is not fixed in amount but is based on a factor other than just the passage of time (e.g., percentage of sales, amount of usage, price indices, market rates of interest).

4. The definition of a lease includes agreements for the hire of an asset which contain a provision giving the hirer an option to acquire title to the asset upon the fulfillment of agreed conditions. These agreements are commonly known as hire purchase agreements. Hire purchase agreements include agreements under which the property in the asset is to pass to the hirer on the payment of the last instalment and the hirer has a right to terminate the agreement at any time before the property so passes.

Classification of Leases
5. The classification of leases adopted in this Statement is based on the extent to which risks and rewards incident to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the lessee. Risks include the possibilities of losses from idle capacity or technological obsolescence and of variations in return due to changing economic conditions. Rewards may be represented by the expectation of profitable operation over the economic life of the asset and of gain from appreciation in value or realisation of residual value.

6. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership. Title may or may not eventually be transferred. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership.

7. Since the transaction between a lessor and a lessee is based on a lease agreement common to both parties, it is appropriate to use consistent definitions. The application of these definitions to the differing circumstances of the two parties may sometimes result in the same lease being classified differently by the lessor and the lessee.

8. Whether a lease is a finance lease or an operating lease depends on the substance of the transaction rather than its form. Examples of situations which would normally lead to a lease being classified as a finance lease are:

a. the lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term; 

b. the lessee has the option to purchase the asset at a price which is expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable such that, at the inception of the lease, it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised; 

c. the lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if title is not transferred; 

d. at the inception of the lease the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset; and 

e. the leased asset is of a specialised nature such that only the lessee can use it without major modifications being made. 

9. Indicators of situations which individually or in combination could also lead to a lease being classified as a finance lease are:

a. if the lessee can cancel the lease, the lessor's losses associated with the cancellation are borne by the lessee; 

b. gains or losses from the fluctuation in the fair value of the residual fall to the lessee (for example in the form of a rent rebate equalling most of the sales proceeds at the end of the lease); and 

c. the lessee can continue the lease for a secondary period at a rent which is substantially lower than market rent. 

10. Lease classification is made at the inception of the lease. If at any time the lessee and the lessor agree to change the provisions of the lease, other than by renewing the lease, in a manner that would have resulted in a different classification of the lease under the criteria in paragraphs 5 to 9 had the changed terms been in effect at the inception of the lease, the revised agreement is considered as a new agreement over its revised term. Changes in estimates (for example, changes in estimates of the economic life or of the residual value of the leased asset) or changes in circumstances (for example, default by the lessee), however, do not give rise to a new classification of a lease for accounting purposes.

Leases in the Financial Statements of Lessees
Finance Leases
11. At the inception of a finance lease, the lessee should recognise the lease as an asset and a liability. Such recognition should be at an amount equal to the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease. However, if the fair value of the leased asset exceeds the present value of the minimum lease payments from the standpoint of the lessee, the amount recorded as an asset and a liability should be the present value of the minimum lease payments from the standpoint of the lessee. In calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments the discount rate is the interest rate implicit in the lease, if this is practicable to determine; if not, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate should be used.
Example

(a) An enterprise (the lessee) acquires a machinery on lease from a leasing company (the lessor) on January 1, 20X0. The lease term covers the entire economic life of the machinery, i.e. 3 years. The fair value of the machinery on January 1, 20X0 is Rs.2,35,500. The lease agreement requires the lessee to pay an amount of Rs.1,00,000 per year beginning December 31, 20X0. The lessee has guaranteed a residual value of Rs.17,000 on December 31, 20X2 to the lessor. The lessor, however, estimates that the machinery would have a salvage value of only Rs.3,500 on December 31, 20X2.

The interest rate implicit in the lease is 16 per cent (approx.). This is calculated using the following formula:

Fair value =
ALR

+
ALR

+
............

+
ALR

+
RV


(1+r)1

(1+r)2

 

(1+r)n

(1+r)n

where ALR is annual lease rental,
RV is residual value (both guaranteed and unguaranteed),
n is the lease term,
r is interest rate implicit in the lease.

The present value of minimum lease payments from the stand point of the lessee is Rs.2,35,500.

The lessee would record the machinery as an asset at Rs.2,35,500 with a corresponding liability representing the present value of lease payments over the lease term (including the guaranteed residual value).

(b) In the above example, suppose the lessor estimates that the machinery would have a salvage value of Rs.17,000 on December 31, 20X2. The lessee, however, guarantees a residual value of Rs.5,000 only.

The interest rate implicit in the lease in this case would remain unchanged at 16% (approx.). The present value of the minimum lease payments from the standpoint of the lessee, using this interest rate implicit in the lease, would be Rs.2,27,805. As this amount is lower than the fair value of the leased asset (Rs. 2,35,500), the lessee would recognise the asset and the liability arising from the lease at Rs.2,27,805.

In case the interest rate implicit in the lease is not known to the lessee, the present value of the minimum lease payments from the standpoint of the lessee would be computed using the lessee's incremental borrowing rate.

12. Transactions and other events are accounted for and presented in accordance with their substance and financial reality and not merely with their legal form. While the legal form of a lease agreement is that the lessee may acquire no legal title to the leased asset, in the case of finance leases the substance and financial reality are that the lessee acquires the economic benefits of the use of the leased asset for the major part of its economic life in return for entering into an obligation to pay for that right an amount approximating to the fair value of the asset and the related finance charge.

13. If such lease transactions are not reflected in the lessee's balance sheet, the economic resources and the level of obligations of an enterprise are understated thereby distorting financial ratios. It is therefore appropriate that a finance lease be recognised in the lessee's balance sheet both as an asset and as an obligation to pay future lease payments. At the inception of the lease, the asset and the liability for the future lease payments are recognised in the balance sheet at the same amounts.

14. It is not appropriate to present the liability for a leased asset as a deduction from the leased asset in the financial statements. The liability for a leased asset should be presented separately in the balance sheet as a current liability or a long-term liability as the case may be.

15. Initial direct costs are often incurred in connection with specific leasing activities, as in negotiating and securing leasing arrangements. The costs identified as directly attributable to activities performed by the lessee for a finance lease are included as part of the amount recognised as an asset under the lease.

16. Lease payments should be apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge should be allocated to periods during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Example
In the example (a) illustrating paragraph 11, the lease payments would be apportioned by the lessee between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability as follows.

Year
Finance 
charge 
(Rs.)
Payment 
(Rs.)
Reduction in
outstanding 
liability (Rs.)
Outstanding 
liability 
(Rs.)

Year 1
(January 1)
 
 
 
2,35,500

 
(December 31)
37,680
1,00,000
62,320
1,73,180

Year 2
(December 31)
27,709
1,00,000
72,291
1,00,889

Year 3
(December 31)
16,142
1,00,000
83,858
17,031*

17. In practice, in allocating the finance charge to periods during the lease term, some form of approximation may be used to simplify the calculation.

18. A finance lease gives rise to a depreciation expense for the asset as well as a finance expense for each accounting period. The depreciation policy for a leased asset should be consistent with that for depreciable assets which are owned, and the depreciation recognised should be calculated on the basis set out in Accounting Standard (AS) 6, Depreciation Accounting. If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset should be fully depreciated over the lease term or its useful life, whichever is shorter.
19. The depreciable amount of a leased asset is allocated to each accounting period during the period of expected use on a systematic basis consistent with the depreciation policy the lessee adopts for depreciable assets that are owned. If there is reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the period of expected use is the useful life of the asset; otherwise the asset is depreciated over the lease term or its useful life, whichever is shorter.

20. The sum of the depreciation expense for the asset and the finance expense for the period is rarely the same as the lease payments payable for the period, and it is, therefore, inappropriate simply to recognise the lease payments payable as an expense in the statement of profit and loss. Accordingly, the asset and the related liability are unlikely to be equal in amount after the inception of the lease.

21. To determine whether a leased asset has become impaired, an enterprise applies the Accounting Standard dealing with impairment of assets, that sets out the requirements as to how an enterprise should perform the review of the carrying amount of an asset, how it should determine the recoverable amount of an asset and when it should recognise, or reverse, an impairment loss.

22. The lessee should, in addition to the requirements of AS 10, Accounting for Fixed Assets, AS 6, Depreciation Accounting, and the governing statute, make the following disclosures for finance leases:

a. assets acquired under finance lease as segregated from the assets owned; 

b. for each class of assets, the net carrying amount at the balance sheet date; 

c. a reconciliation between the total of minimum lease payments at the balance sheet date and their present value. In addition, an enterprise should disclose the total of minimum lease payments at the balance sheet date, and their present value, for each of the following periods: 

i. not later than one year; 

ii. later than one year and not later than five years; 

iii. (iii) later than five years; 

d. contingent rents recognised as income in the statement of profit and loss for the period; 

e. the total of future minimum sublease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable subleases at the balance sheet date; and 

f. a general description of the lessee's significant leasing arrangements including, but not limited to, the following: 

i. the basis on which contingent rent payments are determined; 

ii. the existence and terms of renewal or purchase options and escalation clauses; and 

iii. restrictions imposed by lease arrangements, such as those concerning dividends, additional debt, and further leasing. 

Operating Leases
23. Lease payments under an operating lease should be recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis over the lease term unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the user's benefit.
24. For operating leases, lease payments (excluding costs for services such as insurance and maintenance) are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the user's benefit, even if the payments are not on that basis.

25. The lessee should make the following disclosures for operating leases:

a. the total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods: 

i. not later than one year; 

ii. later than one year and not later than five years; 

iii. later than five years; 

b. the total of future minimum sublease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable subleases at the balance sheet date; 

c. lease payments recognised in the statement of profit and loss for the period, with separate amounts for minimum lease payments and contingent rents; 

d. sub-lease payments received (or receivable) recognised in the statement of profit and loss for the period; 

e. a general description of the lessee's significant leasing arrangements including, but not limited to, the following: 

i. the basis on which contingent rent payments are determined; 

ii. the existence and terms of renewal or purchase options and escalation clauses; and 

iii. restrictions imposed by lease arrangements, such as those concerning dividends, additional debt, and further leasing. 

Leases in the Financial Statements of Lessors
Finance Leases
26. The lessor should recognise assets given under a finance lease in its balance sheet as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
27. Under a finance lease substantially all the risks and rewards incident to legal ownership are transferred by the lessor, and thus the lease payment receivable is treated by the lessor as repayment of principal, i.e., net investment in the lease, and finance income to reimburse and reward the lessor for its investment and services.

28. The recognition of finance income should be based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment of the lessor outstanding in respect of the finance lease.
29. A lessor aims to allocate finance income over the lease term on a systematic and rational basis. This income allocation is based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic return on the net investment of the lessor outstanding in respect of the finance lease. Lease payments relating to the accounting period, excluding costs for services, are reduced from both the principal and the unearned finance income.

30. Estimated unguaranteed residual values used in computing the lessor's gross investment in a lease are reviewed regularly. If there has been a reduction in the estimated unguaranteed residual value, the income allocation over the remaining lease term is revised and any reduction in respect of amounts already accrued is recognised immediately. An upward adjustment of the estimated residual value is not made.

31. Initial direct costs, such as commissions and legal fees, are often incurred by lessors in negotiating and arranging a lease. For finance leases, these initial direct costs are incurred to produce finance income and are either recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss or allocated against the finance income over the lease term.

32. The manufacturer or dealer lessor should recognise the transaction of sale in the statement of profit and loss for the period, in accordance with the policy followed by the enterprise for outright sales. If artificially low rates of interest are quoted, profit on sale should be restricted to that which would apply if a commercial rate of interest were charged. Initial direct costs should be recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss at the inception of the lease.
33. Manufacturers or dealers may offer to customers the choice of either buying or leasing an asset. A finance lease of an asset by a manufacturer or dealer lessor gives rise to two types of income:

(a) the profit or loss equivalent to the profit or loss resulting from an outright sale of the asset being leased, at normal selling prices, reflecting any applicable volume or trade discounts; and

(b) the finance income over the lease term. 

34. The sales revenue recorded at the commencement of a finance lease term by a manufacturer or dealer lessor is the fair value of the asset. However, if the present value of the minimum lease payments accruing to the lessor computed at a commercial rate of interest is lower than the fair value, the amount recorded as sales revenue is the present value so computed. The cost of sale recognised at the commencement of the lease term is the cost, or carrying amount if different, of the leased asset less the present value of the unguaranteed residual value. The difference between the sales revenue and the cost of sale is the selling profit, which is recognised in accordance with the policy followed by the enterprise for sales.

35. Manufacturer or dealer lessors sometimes quote artificially low rates of interest in order to attract customers. The use of such a rate would result in an excessive portion of the total income from the transaction being recognised at the time of sale. If artificially low rates of interest are quoted, selling profit would be restricted to that which would apply if a commercial rate of interest were charged.

36. Initial direct costs are recognised as an expense at the commencement of the lease term because they are mainly related to earning the manufacturer's or dealer's selling profit.

37. The lessor should make the following disclosures for finance leases:

a. a reconciliation between the total gross investment in the lease at the balance sheet date, and the present value of minimum lease payments receivable at the balance sheet date. In addition, an enterprise should disclose the total gross investment in the lease and the present value of minimum lease payments receivable at the balance sheet date, for each of the following periods: 

i. not later than one year; 

ii. later than one year and not later than five years; 

iii. later than five years; 

b. unearned finance income; 

c. the unguaranteed residual values accruing to the benefit of the lessor; 

d. the accumulated provision for uncollectible minimum lease payments receivable; 

e. contingent rents recognised in the statement of profit and loss for the period; 

f. a general description of the significant leasing arrangements of the lessor; and 

g. accounting policy adopted in respect of initial direct costs. 

38. As an indicator of growth it is often useful to also disclose the gross investment less unearned income in new business added during the accounting period, after deducting the relevant amounts for cancelled leases.

Operating Leases
39. The lessor should present an asset given under operating lease in its balance sheet under fixed assets.

40. Lease income from operating leases should be recognised in the statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which benefit derived from the use of the leased asset is diminished.
41. Costs, including depreciation, incurred in earning the lease income are recognised as an expense. Lease income (excluding receipts for services provided such as insurance and maintenance) is recognised in the statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis over the lease term even if the receipts are not on such a basis, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which benefit derived from the use of the leased asset is diminished.

42. Initial direct costs incurred specifically to earn revenues from an operating lease are either deferred and allocated to income over the lease term in proportion to the recognition of rent income, or are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.

43. The depreciation of leased assets should be on a basis consistent with the normal depreciation policy of the lessor for similar assets, and the depreciation charge should be calculated on the basis set out in AS 6, Depreciation Accounting.
44. To determine whether a leased asset has become impaired, an enterprise applies the Accounting Standard dealing with impairment of assets that sets out the requirements for how an enterprise should perform the review of the carrying amount of an asset, how it should determine the recoverable amount of an asset and when it should recognise, or reverse, an impairment loss.

45. A manufacturer or dealer lessor does not recognise any selling profit on entering into an operating lease because it is not the equivalent of a sale.

46. The lessor should, in addition to the requirements of AS 6, Depreciation Accounting and AS 10, Accounting for Fixed Assets, and the governing statute, make the following disclosures for operating leases:

a. for each class of assets, the gross carrying amount, the accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses at the balance sheet date; and 

i. the depreciation recognised in the statement of profit and loss for the period; 

ii. impairment losses recognised in the statement of profit and loss for the period; 

iii. impairment losses reversed in the statement of profit and loss for the period; 

b. the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in the aggregate and for each of the following periods: 

i. not later than one year; 

ii. later than one year and not later than five years; 

iii. later than five years; 

c. total contingent rents recognised as income in the statement of profit and loss for the period; 

d. a general description of the lessor's significant leasing arrangements; and 

e. accounting policy adopted in respect of initial direct costs. 

Sale and Leaseback Transactions

47. A sale and leaseback transaction involves the sale of an asset by the vendor and the leasing of the same asset back to the vendor. The lease payments and the sale price are usually interdependent as they are negotiated as a package. The accounting treatment of a sale and leaseback transaction depends upon the type of lease involved. 


48. If a sale and leaseback transaction results in a finance lease, any excess or deficiency of sales proceeds over the carrying amount should not be immediately recognised as income or loss in the financial statements of a seller-lessee. Instead, it should be deferred and amortised over the lease term in proportion to the depreciation of the leased asset.

49. If the leaseback is a finance lease, it is not appropriate to regard an excess of sales proceeds over the carrying amount as income. Such excess is deferred and amortised over the lease term in proportion to the depreciation of the leased asset. Similarly, it is not appropriate to regard a deficiency as loss. Such deficiency is deferred and amortised over the lease term.

50. If a sale and leaseback transaction results in an operating lease, and it is clear that the transaction is established at fair value, any profit or loss should be recognised immediately. If the sale price is below fair value, any profit or loss should be recognised immediately except that, if the loss is compensated by future lease payments at below market price, it should be deferred and amortised in proportion to the lease payments over the period for which the asset is expected to be used. If the sale price is above fair value, the excess over fair value should be deferred and amortised over the period for which the asset is expected to be used.


51. If the leaseback is an operating lease, and the lease payments and the sale price are established at fair value, there has in effect been a normal sale transaction and any profit or loss is recognised immediately.


52. For operating leases, if the fair value at the time of a sale and leaseback transaction is less than the carrying amount of the asset, a loss equal to the amount of the difference between the carrying amount and fair value should be recognised immediately.

53. For finance leases, no such adjustment is necessary unless there has been an impairment in value, in which case the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount in accordance with the Accounting Standard dealing with impairment of assets.


54. Disclosure requirements for lessees and lessors apply equally to sale and leaseback transactions. The required description of the significant leasing arrangements leads to disclosure of unique or unusual provisions of the agreement or terms of the sale and leaseback transactions..

55. Sale and leaseback transactions may meet the separate disclosure criteria set out in paragraph 12 of Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies..

Appendix
Sale and Leaseback Transactions that Result in Operating Leases
The appendix is illustrative only and does not form part of the accounting standard. The purpose of this appendix is to illustrate the application of the accounting standard.

A sale and leaseback transaction that results in an operating lease may give rise to profit or a loss, the determination and treatment of which depends on the leased asset's carrying amount, fair value and selling price. The following table shows the requirements of the accounting standard in various circumstances.

Sale price established at fair value (paragraph 50)
Carrying amount equal to fair value
Carrying amount less than fair value
Carrying amount above fair value

Profit
No profit
Recognise profit immediately
Not applicable

Loss
No loss 
Not applicable
Recognise loss immediately

Sale price below fair value (paragraph 50)
 
 
 

Profit 
No profit
Recognise profit immediately
No profit (note 1)

Loss not compensated by future lease payments at below market price
Recognise loss immediately
Recognise loss immediately
(note 1)

Loss compensated by future lease payments at below market price
Defer and amortise loss
Defer and amortise loss
(note 1)

Sale price above fair value (paragraph 50)
 
 
 

Profit
Defer and amortise profit
Defer and amortise profit
Defer and amortise profit (note 2)

Loss
No loss
No loss
(note 1)

Note 1. These parts of the table represent circumstances that would have been dealt with under paragraph 52 of the Standard. Paragraph 52 requires the carrying amount of an asset to be written down to fair value where it is subject to a sale and leaseback.

Note 2. The profit would be the difference between fair value and sale price as the carrying amount would have been written down to fair value in accordance with paragraph 52. 

NOTES ON LEASES (AS 19)

(   Shri Bhavesh Vora
______________________________________________________

1.
OBJECTIVE :-


The objective of this Statement is to prescribe for lessees and lessors, the appropriate accounting policies and disclosures in relation to finance leases & operating leases.



2.
EFFECTIVE DATE :-


This standard comes into effect in respect of all assets leased during accounting periods commencing on or after 01.04.2001 and is mandatory in nature.



3.
SCOPE :-


This statement should be applied in accounting for all leases other than,


· Lease agreements to explore for or use natural resources, such as oil, gas, timber, metals and other mineral rights; and


· Licensing agreements for items such as motion picture films, video recordings, plays, manuscripts, patents and copyrights; and


· Lease agreements to use land.



4.
This standard is divided into 55 paragraphs including various definitions, classifications, description of various policies disclosures etc.

To have better understanding of the standard one need to know the important definitions.


a) Lease is an agreement where by the lessor conveys to the lessee in the return for a payment or series of payments the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.


b) A Finance Lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidents to ownership of an asset. 


c) An Operating Lease is a lease other than a finance lease.


d) The Lease terms is the non-cancelable period for which the lessee has agreed to take on lease the asset together with any further periods for which the lessee has option to continue the lease asset with or without further payment, which option at the inception of the lease it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise.


e) Minimum Lease Payments are the payments over the lease term that the lessee is, or can be required, to make excluding contingent Rent, Cost for services and taxes to be paid by and reimbursed to the lessor, together with :




i) in the case of the lessee, any residual value guaranteed by or on behalf of the lessee ; or


ii) in the case of the lessor, any residual value guaranteed to the lessor by or on behalf of the lessee or by any independent third party financially capable of meeting this guarantee.




f) Gross Investments in the Lease is the aggregate of the minimum lease payments under a finance lease from the standpoint of the lessor and any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor. 




g) Unearned Finance Income is the difference between :


i) The Gross Investment in the lease; and 

ii) The present value (pv) of .........

· The minimum lease payments under a finance lease from the stand points of the lessor (including any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor, if any) at the interest rate implicit in the lease.




h) Net Investments in the lease is the Gross Investment in the lease less unearned finance Income.



5.
The definition of a lease includes agreements which are commonly known as Hire purchase agreements.  Such agreements include agreements under which the property in the asset is to pass to hirer on the payment of the last Instalments and the hirer has right to terminate the agreement at any time before the property so passes.



6.
Example : for Finance Lease


An enterprise (the lessee) acquires a machinery on lease from a leasing company (lessor) on January 1, 2002 for a lease term of 3 years.


a) Fair value of Machinery as on 1st Jan’ 2002 is Rs. 2,35,500/-


b) Lease payments : Rs. 1,00,000/- per year beginning from 31st Dec., 2002. (For 3 years)


c) Guaranteed Residual Value Rs. 17,000/- at end of 3rd year.

YEAR
LEASE PAYMENTS
FINANCE CHARGES
REDUCTION IN OUTSTANDING LIABILITIES 
OUTSTANDING LIABILITY

YEAR - 1

Jan.1

Dec. 31


---

1,00,000.00
---

37,680.00
---

62,320.00
2,35,500.00

1,73,180.00

YEAR - 2

Dec. 31


1,00,000.00
27,709.00
72,291.00
1,00,889.00

YEAR - 3

Dec. 31


1,00,000.00
16,142.00
83,858.00
17,031.00

Total :


3,00,000.00
81,531.00




In above example




Rs.


Gross Investment is


3,00,000.00

Less :
Unearned Finance Income for lessor
81,531.00


Net Investment in Lease
2,18,469.00


Net Investment in lease from lessor viewpoint can also be calculated as

(Original Cost


---
Salvage Value)

i.e.  (2,35,500


__
17,031)

= 2,18,469/-

7.
Classification of Lease :-




The appropriate accounting policy, presentation and disclosure in respect to lease transaction depends upon whether it is a finance lease or operating lease.


Listed below are some of the points based on which classification can be made.


A) A Lease is classified as finance lease if -


i) It transfers all risks & rewards incident to ownership, title may or may not be eventually be transferred.


ii) The Lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term.


iii) The lessee has an option to purchase the asset at a price which is expected to be sufficiently lower than fair market value and at the inception of lease it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.


iv) The Lease Term is for the major part of economic life of the asset. 


v) At the inception of the lease the PV of minimum lease payments (MLP) amounts to atleast substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset.


vi) The leased asset is of a specialised nature such that only lessee can use it without modifications being made.


These are some of the factors on the basis of which the type of the lease being finance lease is determined.  Whether lease is a finance lease or operating lease depends on the substance of the transactions rather than its form.


B) The operating lease is one which is not a finance lease.



8.
Now, as we have the classification, let us consider the presentation part and the disclosure requirement of such lease transaction.



9.
Finance lease in the books of lessee


a) The Lessee shall recognize such lease as an asset and a liability

Liability


Assets

An Equivalent amount as shown in Asset side
Fixed Assets

Owned :-

Leased :-

a)   Fair Value or Present Value of MLP

       Whichever is lower.


b) Lease payments should be apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the Outstanding Liability.  As shown in example above the allocable periodic finance charges will be debited to Profit & Loss Account in respective year.




c) Depreciation has to be provided on such asset on the basis set out in Accounting Standard 6 on Depreciation Accounting.




d) Following disclosures to be made in addition to requirements of Accounting Standard 6, Accounting Standard 10, & governing statute.


i) Segregation of Owned Assets & Lease Assets


ii) Net carrying amount in the Balance Sheet for each class of asset.


iii) reconciliation between MLP as on Balance Sheet date and the present value of the same, for the period 


· upto 12 months


· between 1 year to 5 years.


· Above 5 years



iv)
iv) Contingent Rent if any debited to Profit & Loss A/c.

V
v) General description of lesse’s signification leasing arrangement.



10.
Finance Lease in books of lessor.


a) The lessor should recognize asset given under a finance lease in its Balance Sheet as a receivable at an amount equal to the net Investment in the lease.


b) The lease Rentals received should be segregated into Finance Income and towards receivable and Finance Income amount to be credited to Profit & Loss A/c.


c) The manufacturer or dealer lessor should recognize the transaction of sale in the statement of Profit & Loss for the period in accordance with policy followed by the enterprises for outright sales.


If artificially low rate of Interest is charged, Profit or Loss on sales to be restricted to that which would apply if commercial rate of interest were charged.


d) In addition to above following additional disclosure is required.


i) Reconciliation between PV. Of MLP and Gross Investment in lease at the Balance Sheet date for the period


· upto 12 month


· between 1 to 5 years


· above 5 years.


ii) Unearned finance Income


iii) Unguranted residual value


iv) Accumulated provision for uncollectible MLP


v) Contingent Rent received during the period


vi) General description of significant leasing arrangements.


vii) Accounting policy of initial direct cost



11.
Operating lease in Books of Lessee


Accounting entries in case of operating lease is easy as compared to finance lease.

Lease payments under an operating lease should be recognised as an expense in statement of Profit & Loss.


following disclosure is required


a)  Total future MLP segregating in different period


· upto 12 months


· between 1 to 5 years


· above 5 years.


b) Total future sublease payments expected to be received.


c) Lease payments debited in Profit & Loss Account with separate amounts for MLP and contingent rent.


d) Sublease payments received / receivable recognised in Profit & Loss A/c.


e) Significant Terms of lease arrangment



12.
Operating Lease in Books of Lessor.


a) The lessor should present an asset given under lease in its Balance Sheet under Fixed Assets.


b) Lease Rental received should be recognised as Income in the Statement of Profit & Loss.


c) The depreciation on lease asset to be provided as set out in Accounting Standard 6 on  Depreciation accounting.


d) Following disclosure should be made in addition to requirements of Accounting Standard 6, Accounting Standard 10 and governing statute


i) Gross carrying Amount / Accumulated Depreciation etc. For each class of Asset.


ii) Depreciation recognised in the statement of Profit & Loss.


iii) Future MLP in aggregate and for each of following period.


· Upto 12 months


· between 1 to 5 years.


· In excess of 5 years.


iv) contingent Rent recognised on Income


v) General description of lessors significant leasing arrangements.



13.
Sale & Lease back transactions :


a) A sale & lease back transactions involves the sale of an asset by the vendor and leasing of the same asset back to vendor. 


The accounting depends upon the type of sale & lease back transactions.


b) If it is finance lease any excess or deficiency of sales proceeds over the carrying amount should not be immediately recognised as Income/loss.  Instead it should be deferred and amortised over the lease term in proportion to the depreciation of the leased asset.


c) If it is operating lease it is clear that the transaction is established at fair value and any Profit & Loss to be recognised immediately.

( ( ( ( ( (
ISSUES ON LEASES (AS 19)

1.
If Lease agreement is entered into before 1st April, 2001 but the underlying Asset has been delivered subsequent to this date whether Accounting Standard on Leases would be applicable?



2.
If under a Master Lease agreement for multiple leases assets are delivered at different time say, under such agreement first asset has been delivered on 15th Jan’ 2001 and subsequently another asset under, same agreement has been delivered on 15th April’ 2001.

What would be the accounting treatment in such cases?



3.
Whether the Standard is applicable for lease of immovable property (say building, commercial premises, residential flat etc.) other than land?

What will be the situation when there is a consolidated lease of Land & Building where value of both is not separable.



4.
What is the difference between Hire Purchase agreements & Lease agreement ?


Why Hire Purchase agreements were not covered under Guidance note on lease and now covered under Accounting Standard 19 on leases.



5.
What test should be applied for making classification of leased asset under Finance lease / operating Lease.


What would be the situation where there is a change in a term in between the lease period  by which the classification of lease undergo the change?



6.
For assets bearing 100% Depreciation under Income Tax Act, the lessor passes some part of tax benefit to the lessee by recovering capital portion less than its fair value


At what value should the asset be shown in lessee’s Balance Sheet? Is there any contradiction with Accounting Standards 10 on Fixed Assets?



7.
Under finance lease the lessee has to book the liability of an amount equal to present value of minimum lease payments.


Under what head should it be disclosed in the Balance sheet as per Schedule VI requirement?

Would it be classified as a secured loan or current liabilities?




8.
In case of default in payment by the lessee the asset is reposed by the lessor.  

What should be accounting treatment in such cases as standard has not envisaged such circumstances.



9.
In case of Finance Lease the lessor has to reflect the net Investment in the lease in Balance Sheet as receivable.  However it is not clear under which head it will appear in the Balance Sheet as per Schedule VI, whether under sundry debtors or advance recoverable in cash or in kind or under any other head.

In the light of the fact that now the amount would be shown as receivable as against fixed asset, what would be the lending norms of Banks and other financial institutions.  



10.
Under the Finance Lease in some cases the lessee is allowed to fully depreciate the asset over its useful life or lease term whichever is shorter.


Is this contrary to what is set out in Accounting Standard 6 on Depreciation Accounting?  

What should be the reporting requirement in such cases?



11.
If Manufacturer or dealer lessor enters into a finance lease by offering very low rate of interest to attract the customers.?  In such cases the sales value of an Asset is different from its fair value ?


How to determine the sales value and the finance Income which are to be shown separately in Profit & Loss Account ?



12.
What will be Accounting Treatment of old lease transactions entered into prior to 1.04.2001 and continuing even after that date ?


What are the disclosures required under Accounting Standard 1 on “Disclosures of Accounting policies”.  How it will be done ?



13.
Under finance lease the asset is shown in the Balance Sheet of lessee and depreciation is also claim by lessee where the legal owner is lessor.


What will be the implication of Sec. 32 of Income Tax Act for allowability of depreciation where the conditions are :

a)
Ownership of Asset

b)
Use of Asset.


Can it be said that asset used by lessee satisfies the condition of “use of Asset by lessor.”



14.
X Ltd. (Lessor) has entered into Finance Lease with Y Ltd. (Lessee).


X Ltd will not provide depreciation in books but claim the same in computation of Income whereby Y Ltd. Will provide the depreciation in books but will not be allowed to claim depreciation (as per circular 2 of 2001 Dated 09.02.2001)


What would be the Tax implication under Minimum Alternative Tax (MAT) under sec. 115JB Income Tax Act, vis-à-vis depreciation claim of X Ltd.  

ACCOUNTING STANDARD 20
E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E 
(In this Accounting Standard, the standard portions have been set in bold italic type. These should be read in the context of the background material which has been set in normal type, and in the context of the ‘Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards'.)
Accounting Standard (AS) 20, ‘Earnings Per Share’, issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2001 and is mandatory in nature, from that date, in respect of enterprises whose equity shares or potential equity shares are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India. An enterprise which has neither equity shares nor potential equity shares which are so listed but which discloses earnings per share, should calculate and disclose earnings per share in accordance with this Standard from the aforesaid date. The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.
Objective
The objective of this Statement is to prescribe principles for the determination and presentation of earnings per share which will improve comparison of performance among different enterprises for the same period and among different accounting periods for the same enterprise. The focus of this Statement is on the denominator of the earnings per share calculation. Even though earnings per share data has limitations because of different accounting policies used for determining `earnings', a consistently determined denominator enhances the quality of financial reporting.

Scope
1. This Statement should be applied by enterprises whose equity shares or potential equity shares are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India. An enterprise which has neither equity shares nor potential equity shares which are so listed but which discloses earnings per share should calculate and disclose earnings per share in accordance with this Statement. 
2. In consolidated financial statements, the information required by this Statement should be presented on the basis of consolidated information.
3. This Statement applies to enterprises whose equity or potential equity shares are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India. An enterprise which has neither equity shares nor potential equity shares which are so listed is not required to disclose earnings per share. However, comparability in financial reporting among enterprises is enhanced if such an enterprise that is required to disclose by any statute or chooses to disclose earnings per share calculates earnings per share in accordance with the principles laid down in this Statement. In the case of a parent (holding enterprise), users of financial statements are usually concerned with, and need to be informed about, the results of operations of both the enterprise itself as well as of the group as a whole. Accordingly, in the case of such enterprises, this Statement requires the presentation of earnings per share information on the basis of consolidated financial statements as well as individual financial statements of the parent. In consolidated financial statements, such information is presented on the basis of consolidated information. 

Definitions 

4. For the purpose of this Statement, the following terms are used with the meanings specified:

An equity share is a share other than a preference share.

A preference share is a share carrying preferential rights to dividends and repayment of capital.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or equity shares of another enterprise.

A potential equity share is a financial instrument or other contract that entitles, or may entitle, its holder to equity shares.

Share warrants or options are financial instruments that give the holder the right to acquire equity shares.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction.
5. Equity shares participate in the net profit for the period only after preference shares. An enterprise may have more than one class of equity shares. Equity shares of the same class have the same rights to receive dividends. 

6. A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or equity shares of another enterprise. For this purpose, a financial asset is any asset that is 

a. cash;

b. a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another enterprise;

c. a contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially favourable; or

d. an equity share of another enterprise.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another enterprise or to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially unfavourable. 

7. Examples of potential equity shares are: 

a. debt instruments or preference shares, that are convertible into equity shares;

b. share warrants;

c. options including employee stock option plans under which employees of an enterprise are entitled to receive equity shares as part of their remuneration and other similar plans; and

d. shares which would be issued upon the satisfaction of certain conditions resulting from contractual arrangements (contingently issuable shares), such as the acquisition of a business or other assets, or shares issuable under a loan contract upon default of payment of principal or interest, if the contract so provides.

Presentation
8. An enterprise should present basic and diluted earnings per share on the face of the statement of profit and loss for each class of equity shares that has a different right to share in the net profit for the period. An enterprise should present basic and diluted earnings per share with equal prominence for all periods presented.
9. This Statement requires an enterprise to present basic and diluted earnings per share, even if the amounts disclosed are negative (a loss per share). 

Measurement
Basic Earnings Per Share
10. Basic earnings per share should be calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period.
Earnings - Basic
11. For the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders should be the net profit or loss for the period after deducting preference dividends and any attributable tax thereto for the period.
12. All items of income and expense which are recognised in a period, including tax expense and extraordinary items, are included in the determination of the net profit or loss for the period unless an Accounting Standard requires or permits otherwise (see Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies). The amount of preference dividends and any attributable tax thereto for the period is deducted from the net profit for the period (or added to the net loss for the period) in order to calculate the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders. 

13. The amount of preference dividends for the period that is deducted from the net profit for the period is: 

a. the amount of any preference dividends on non-cumulative preference shares provided for in respect of the period; and 

b. the full amount of the required preference dividends for cumulative preference shares for the period, whether or not the dividends have been provided for. The amount of preference dividends for the period does not include the amount of any preference dividends for cumulative preference shares paid or declared during the current period in respect of previous periods.

14. If an enterprise has more than one class of equity shares, net profit or loss for the period is apportioned over the different classes of shares in accordance with their dividend rights. 

Per Share - Basic
15. For the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, the number of equity shares should be the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period.
16. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period reflects the fact that the amount of shareholders' capital may have varied during the period as a result of a larger or lesser number of shares outstanding at any time. It is the number of equity shares outstanding at the beginning of the period, adjusted by the number of equity shares bought back or issued during the period multiplied by the time-weighting factor. The time-weighting factor is the number of days for which the specific shares are outstanding as a proportion of the total number of days in the period; a reasonable approximation of the weighted average is adequate in many circumstances. 

Appendix I illustrates the computation of weighted average number of shares. 

17. In most cases, shares are included in the weighted average number of shares from the date the consideration is receivable , for example: 

a. equity shares issued in exchange for cash are included when cash is receivable; 

b. equity shares issued as a result of the conversion of a debt instrument to equity shares are included as of the date of conversion;

c. equity shares issued in lieu of interest or principal on other financial instruments are included as of the date interest ceases to accrue;

d. equity shares issued in exchange for the settlement of a liability of the enterprise are included as of the date the settlement becomes effective;

e. equity shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of an asset other than cash are included as of the date on which the acquisition is recognised; and

f. equity shares issued for the rendering of services to the enterprise are included as the services are rendered.

In these and other cases, the timing of the inclusion of equity shares is determined by the specific terms and conditions attaching to their issue. Due consideration should be given to the substance of any contract associated with the issue. 

18. Equity shares issued as part of the consideration in an amalgamation in nature of purchase are included in the weighted average number of shares as of the date of the acquisition because the transferee incorporates the results of the operations of the transferor into its statement of profit and loss as from the date of acquisition. Equity shares issued during the reporting period as part of the consideration in an amalgamation in the nature of merger are included in the calculation of the weighted average number of shares from the beginning of the reporting period because the financial statements of the combined enterprise for the reporting period are prepared as if the combined entity had existed from the beginning of the reporting period. Therefore, the number of equity shares used for the calculation of basic earnings per share in an amalgamation in the nature of merger is the aggregate of the weighted average number of shares of the combined enterprises, adjusted to equivalent shares of the enterprise whose shares are outstanding after the amalgamation. 

19. Partly paid equity shares are treated as a fraction of an equity share to the extent that they were entitled to participate in dividends relative to a fully paid equity share during the reporting period.

Appendix II illustrates the computations in respect of partly paid equity shares.

20. Where an enterprise has equity shares of different nominal values but with the same dividend rights, the number of equity shares are calculated by converting all such equity shares into equivalent number of shares of the same nominal value. 

21. Equity shares which are issuable upon the satisfaction of certain conditions resulting from contractual arrangements (contingently issuable shares) are considered outstanding, and included in the computation of basic earnings per share from the date when all necessary conditions under the contract have been satisfied. 

22. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period and for all periods presented should be adjusted for events, other than the conversion of potential equity shares, that have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources.
23. Equity shares may be issued, or the number of shares outstanding may be reduced, without a corresponding change in resources. Examples include:

a. a bonus issue;

b. a bonus element in any other issue, for example a bonus element in a rights issue to existing shareholders;

c. a share split; and

d. a reverse share split (consolidation of shares).

24. In case of a bonus issue or a share split, equity shares are issued to existing shareholders for no additional consideration. Therefore, the number of equity shares outstanding is increased without an increase in resources. The number of equity shares outstanding before the event is adjusted for the proportionate change in the number of equity shares outstanding as if the event had occurred at the beginning of the earliest period reported. For example, upon a two-for-one bonus issue, the number of shares outstanding prior to the issue is multiplied by a factor of three to obtain the new total number of shares, or by a factor of two to obtain the number of additional shares.

Appendix III illustrates the computation of weighted average number of equity shares in case of a bonus issue during the period. 

25. The issue of equity shares at the time of exercise or conversion of potential equity shares will not usually give rise to a bonus element, since the potential equity shares will usually have been issued for full value, resulting in a proportionate change in the resources available to the enterprise. In a rights issue, on the other hand, the exercise price is often less than the fair value of the shares. Therefore, a rights issue usually includes a bonus element. The number of equity shares to be used in calculating basic earnings per share for all periods prior to the rights issue is the number of equity shares outstanding prior to the issue, multiplied by the following factor: 

Fair value per share immediately prior to the exercise of rights

----------------------------------------------------------------
Theoretical ex-rights fair value per share 

The theoretical ex-rights fair value per share is calculated by adding the aggregate fair value of the shares immediately prior to the exercise of the rights to the proceeds from the exercise of the rights, and dividing by the number of shares outstanding after the exercise of the rights. Where the rights themselves are to be publicly traded separately from the shares prior to the exercise date, fair value for the purposes of this calculation is established at the close of the last day on which the shares are traded together with the rights.


Appendix IV illustrates the computation of weighted average number of equity shares in case of a rights issue during the period. 

Diluted Earnings Per Share 

26. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period should be adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.
27. In calculating diluted earnings per share, effect is given to all dilutive potential equity shares that were outstanding during the period, that is: 

a. the net profit for the period attributable to equity shares is: 

i. increased by the amount of dividends recognised in the period in respect of the dilutive potential equity shares as adjusted for any attributable change in tax expense for the period;<>

ii. increased by the amount of interest recognised in the period in respect of the dilutive potential equity shares as adjusted for any attributable change in tax expense for the period; and

iii. adjusted for the after-tax amount of any other changes in expenses or income that would result from the conversion of the dilutive potential equity shares.

b. the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period is increased by the weighted average number of additional equity shares which would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

28. For the purpose of this Statement, share application money pending allotment or any advance share application money as at the balance sheet, which is not statutorily required to be kept separately and is being utilised in the business of the enterprise, is treated in the same manner as dilutive potential equity shares for the purpose of calculation of diluted earnings per share. 

Earnings - Diluted
29. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the amount of net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders, as calculated in accordance with paragraph 11, should be adjusted by the following, after taking into account any attributable change in tax expense for the period: 

a. any dividends on dilutive potential equity shares which have been deducted in arriving at the net profit attributable to equity shareholders as calculated in accordance with paragraph 11;

b. interest recognised in the period for the dilutive potential equity shares; and

c. any other changes in expenses or income that would result from the conversion of the dilutive potential equity shares.

30. After the potential equity shares are converted into equity shares, the dividends, interest and other expenses or income associated with those potential equity shares will no longer be incurred (or earned). Instead, the new equity shares will be entitled to participate in the net profit attributable to equity shareholders. Therefore, the net profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders calculated in accordance with paragraph 11 is increased by the amount of dividends, interest and other expenses that will be saved, and reduced by the amount of income that will cease to accrue, on the conversion of the dilutive potential equity shares into equity shares. The amounts of dividends, interest and other expenses or income are adjusted for any attributable taxes.


Appendix V illustrates the computation of diluted earnings in case of convertible debentures.

31. The conversion of some potential equity shares may lead to consequential changes in other items of income or expense. For example, the reduction of interest expense related to potential equity shares and the resulting increase in net profit for the period may lead to an increase in the expense relating to a non-discretionary employee profit sharing plan. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period is adjusted for any such consequential changes in income or expenses. 

Per Share - Diluted
32. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the number of equity shares should be the aggregate of the weighted average number of equity shares calculated in accordance with paragraphs 15 and 22, and the weighted average number of equity shares which would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential equity shares into equity shares. Dilutive potential equity shares should be deemed to have been converted into equity shares at the beginning of the period or, if issued later, the date of the issue of the potential equity shares.
33. The number of equity shares which would be issued on the conversion of dilutive potential equity shares is determined from the terms of the potential equity shares. The computation assumes the most advantageous conversion rate or exercise price from the standpoint of the holder of the potential equity shares. 

34. Equity shares which are issuable upon the satisfaction of certain conditions resulting from contractual arrangements (contingently issuable shares) are considered outstanding and included in the computation of both the basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share from the date when the conditions under a contract are met. If the conditions have not been met, for computing the diluted earnings per share, contingently issuable shares are included as of the beginning of the period (or as of the date of the contingent share agreement, if later). The number of contingently issuable shares included in this case in computing the diluted earnings per share is based on the number of shares that would be issuable if the end of the reporting period was the end of the contingency period. Restatement is not permitted if the conditions are not met when the contingency period actually expires subsequent to the end of the reporting period. The provisions of this paragraph apply equally to potential equity shares that are issuable upon the satisfaction of certain conditions (contingently issuable potential equity shares). 

35. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, an enterprise should assume the exercise of dilutive options and other dilutive potential equity shares of the enterprise. The assumed proceeds from these issues should be considered to have been received from the issue of shares at fair value. The difference between the number of shares issuable and the number of shares that would have been issued at fair value should be treated as an issue of equity shares for no consideration.
36. Fair value for this purpose is the average price of the equity shares during the period. Theoretically, every market transaction for an enterprise’s equity shares could be included in determining the average price. As a practical matter, however, a simple average of last six months weekly closing prices are usually adequate for use in computing the average price. 

37. Options and other share purchase arrangements are dilutive when they would result in the issue of equity shares for less than fair value. The amount of the dilution is fair value less the issue price. Therefore, in order to calculate diluted earnings per share, each such arrangement is treated as consisting of: 

a. a contract to issue a certain number of equity shares at their average fair value during the period. The shares to be so issued are fairly priced and are assumed to be neither dilutive nor anti-dilutive. They are ignored in the computation of diluted earnings per share; and 

b. a contract to issue the remaining equity shares for no consideration. Such equity shares generate no proceeds and have no effect on the net profit attributable to equity shares outstanding. Therefore, such shares are dilutive and are added to the number of equity shares outstanding in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

Appendix VI illustrates the effects of share options on diluted earnings per share. 

38. To the extent that partly paid shares are not entitled to participate in dividends during the reporting period they are considered the equivalent of warrants or options. 

Dilutive Potential Equity Shares
39. Potential equity shares should be treated as dilutive when, and only when, their conversion to equity shares would decrease net profit per share from continuing ordinary operations.
40. An enterprise uses net profit from continuing ordinary activities as "the control figure" that is used to establish whether potential equity shares are dilutive or anti-dilutive. The net profit from continuing ordinary activities is the net profit from ordinary activities (as defined in AS 5) after deducting preference dividends and any attributable tax thereto and after excluding items relating to discontinued operations.

41. Potential equity shares are anti-dilutive when their conversion to equity shares would increase earnings per share from continuing ordinary activities or decrease loss per share from continuing ordinary activities. The effects of anti-dilutive potential equity shares are ignored in calculating diluted earnings per share.

42. In considering whether potential equity shares are dilutive or anti-dilutive, each issue or series of potential equity shares is considered separately rather than in aggregate. The sequence in which potential equity shares are considered may affect whether or not they are dilutive. Therefore, in order to maximise the dilution of basic earnings per share, each issue or series of potential equity shares is considered in sequence from the most dilutive to the least dilutive. For the purpose of determining the sequence from most dilutive to least dilutive potential equity shares, the earnings per incremental potential equity share is calculated. Where the earnings per incremental share is the least, the potential equity share is considered most dilutive and vice-versa.

Appendix VII illustrates the manner of determining the order in which dilutive securities should be included in the computation of weighted average number of shares. 

43. Potential equity shares are weighted for the period they were outstanding. Potential equity shares that were cancelled or allowed to lapse during the reporting period are included in the computation of diluted earnings per share only for the portion of the period during which they were outstanding. Potential equity shares that have been converted into equity shares during the reporting period are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share from the beginning of the period to the date of conversion; from the date of conversion, the resulting equity shares are included in computing both basic and diluted earnings per share. 

Restatement
44. If the number of equity or potential equity shares outstanding increases as a result of a bonus issue or share split or decreases as a result of a reverse share split (consolidation of shares), the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share should be adjusted for all the periods presented. If these changes occur after the balance sheet date but before the date on which the financial statements are approved by the board of directors, the per share calculations for those financial statements and any prior period financial statements presented should be based on the new number of shares. When per share calculations reflect such changes in the number of shares, that fact should be disclosed.
45. An enterprise does not restate diluted earnings per share of any prior period presented for changes in the assumptions used or for the conversion of potential equity shares into equity shares outstanding. 

46. An enterprise is encouraged to provide a description of equity share transactions or potential equity share transactions, other than bonus issues, share splits and reverse share splits (consolidation of shares) which occur after the balance sheet date when they are of such importance that non-disclosure would affect the ability of the users of the financial statements to make proper evaluations and decisions. Examples of such transactions include: 

a. the issue of shares for cash;

b. the issue of shares when the proceeds are used to repay debt or preference shares outstanding at the balance sheet date;

c. the cancellation of equity shares outstanding at the balance sheet date;

d. the conversion or exercise of potential equity shares, outstanding at the balance sheet date, into equity shares;

e. the issue of warrants, options or convertible securities; and

f. the satisfaction of conditions that would result in the issue of contingently issuable shares.

47. Earnings per share amounts are not adjusted for such transactions occurring after the balance sheet date because such transactions do not affect the amount of capital used to produce the net profit or loss for the period.

Disclosure
48. In addition to disclosures as required by paragraphs 8, 9 and 44 of this Statement, an enterprise should disclose the following: 

a. the amounts used as the numerators in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share, and a reconciliation of those amounts to the net profit or loss for the period;

b. the weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share, and a reconciliation of these denominators to each other; and

c. the nominal value of shares along with the earnings per share figures.

49. Contracts generating potential equity shares may incorporate terms and conditions which affect the measurement of basic and diluted earnings per share. These terms and conditions may determine whether or not any potential equity shares are dilutive and, if so, the effect on the weighted average number of shares outstanding and any consequent adjustments to the net profit attributable to equity shareholders. Disclosure of the terms and conditions of such contracts is encouraged by this Statement. 

50. If an enterprise discloses, in addition to basic and diluted earnings per share, per share amounts using a reported component of net profit other than net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders, such amounts should be calculated using the weighted average number of equity shares determined in accordance with this Statement. If a component of net profit is used which is not reported as a line item in the statement of profit and loss, a reconciliation should be provided between the component used and a line item which is reported in the statement of profit and loss. Basic and diluted per share amounts should be disclosed with equal prominence. 

51. An enterprise may wish to disclose more information than this Statement requires. Such information may help the users to evaluate the performance of the enterprise and may take the form of per share amounts for various components of net profit, e.g., profit from ordinary activities. Such disclosures are encouraged. However, when such amounts are disclosed, the denominators need to be calculated in accordance with this Statement in order to ensure the comparability of the per share amounts disclosed. 

Appendices 
Note: These appendices are illustrative only and do not form part of the Accounting Standard. The purpose of the appendices is to illustrate the application of the Accounting Standard.
Appendix I
Example - Weighted Average Number of Shares
(Accounting year 01-01-20X1 to 31-12-20X1) 

 
 
No. of Shares Issued
No. of Shares Bought Back
No. of Shares Outstanding<

1st January, 20X1
Balance at beginning of year
1,800
-
1,800

31st May, 20X1
Issue of shares for cash
600
-
2,400

1st Nov., 20X1
Buy Back of shares 
-
300
2,100

31st Dec., 20X1
Balance at end of year
2,400
300
2,100

Computation of Weighted Average:
(1,800 x 5/12) + (2,400 x 5/12) + (2,100 x 2/12) = 2,100 shares.

The weighted average number of shares can alternatively be computed as follows:
(1,800 x12/12) + (600 x 7/12) - (300 x 2/12) = 2,100 shares

Appendix II
Example - Partly paid shares

(Accounting year 01-01-20X1 to 31-12-20X1) 

 
 
No. of shares issued
Nominal value of shares
Amount paid

1st January, 20X1
Balance at beginning of year
1800
Rs. 10
Rs. 10

31st October, 20X1
Issue of Shares
600
Rs. 10
Rs. 5

Assuming that partly paid shares are entitled to participate in the dividend to the extent of amount paid, number of partly paid equity shares would be taken as 300 for the purpose of calculation of earnings per share.

Computation of weighted average would be as follows:
(1800x12/12) + (300x2/12) = 1850 shares. 

Appendix III
Example - Bonus Issue
(Accounting year 01-01-20XX to 31-12-20XX) 

Net profit for the year 20X0
Rs. 18,00,000 

Net profit for the year 20X1
Rs. 60,00,000

No. of equity shares outstanding until 30th September 20X1
20,00,000

Bonus issue 1st October 20X1
2 equity shares for each equity share outstanding at 30th September, 20X1

20,00,000 x 2 = 40,00,000

Earnings per share for the year 20X1 
     Rs. 60,00,000     = Re. 1.00 
( 20,00,000 + 40,00,000 ) 

Adjusted earnings per share for the year 20X0 
     Rs. 18,00,000      = Re. 0.30
(20,00,000 + 40,00,000)

Since the bonus issue is an issue without consideration, the issue is treated as if it had occurred prior to the beginning of the year 20X0, the earliest period reported. 

Appendix IV 
Example - Rights Issue
(Accounting year 01-01-20XX to 31-12-20XX)

Net profit 
Year 20X0 : Rs. 11,00,000

Year 20X1 : Rs. 15,00,000 

No. of shares outstanding prior to rights issue 
5,00,000 shares 

Rights issue 
One new share for each five outstanding ( i.e. 1,00,000 new shares)

Rights issue price : Rs. 15.00

Last date to exercise rights: 1st March 20X1

Fair value of one equity share immediately prior to exercise of rights on 1st March 20X1 
Rs. 21.00 

Computation of theoretical ex-rights fair value per share 

Fair value of all outstanding shares immediately prior to exercise of rights+total amount received from exercise 
Number of shares outstanding prior to exercise + number of shares issued in the exercise 

(Rs. 21.00 x 5,00,000 shares) + (Rs. 15.00 x 1,00,000 shares)
5,00,000 shares + 1,00,000 shares 

Theoretical ex-rights fair value per share = Rs. 20.00 

Computation of adjustment factor 

Fair value per share prior to exercise of rights Rs. (21.00)   = 1.05
Theoretical ex-rights value per share Rs. (20.00) 

Computation of earnings per share 

 
Year 20X0
Year 20X1


EPS for the year 20X0 as originally reported: Rs.11,00,000/5,00,000 shares
Rs. 2.20
 


EPS for the year 20X0 restated for rights issue: Rs.11,00,000/(5,00,000 shares x 1.05) 
Rs. 2.10
 


EPS for the year 20X1 including effects of rights issue 

Rs. 15,00,000 _
(5,00,000 x 1.05 x 2/12)+ (6,00,000 x 10/12)
 
Rs. 2.55


Appendix V
Example - Convertible Debentures
(Accounting year 01-01-20XX to 31-12-20XX)

Net profit for the current year 
Rs. 1,00,00,000 

No. of equity shares outstanding 
50,00,000 

Basic earnings per share 
Rs. 2.00 

No. of 12% convertible debentures of Rs. 100 each 

Each debenture is convertible into 10 equity shares 
1,00,000 

Interest expense for the current year 
Rs. 12,00,000 

Tax relating to interest expense (30%) 
Rs. 3,60,000 

Adjusted net profit for the current year 
Rs. (1,00,00,000 + 12,00,000 - 3,60,000) = Rs. 1,08,40,000 

No. of equity shares resulting from conversion of debentures 
10,00,000 

No. of equity shares used to compute diluted earnings per share 
50,00,000 + 10,00,000 = 60,00,000 

Diluted earnings per share 
1,08,40,000 / 60,00,000 = Re. 1.81 

Appendix VI

Example - Effects of Share Options on Diluted Earnings Per Share


(Accounting year 01-01-20XX to 31-12-20XX)

Net profit for the year 20X1 
Rs. 12,00,000 

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year 20X1 
5,00,000 shares 

Average fair value of one equity share during the year 20X1 
Rs. 20.00 

Weighted average number of shares under option during the year 20X1 
1,00,000 shares 

Exercise price for shares under option during the year 20X1 
Rs. 15.00 

Computation of earnings per share

 
Earnings
Shares
Earnings per share

Net profit for the year 20X1
Rs. 12,00,000
 
 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during year 20X1 
 
5,00,000
 

Basic earnings per share
 
 
Rs. 2.40

Number of shares under option
 
1,00,000
 

Number of shares that would have been issued at fair value: (100,000 x 15.00) /20.00 
* 
(75,000)
 

Diluted earnings per share
Rs. 12,00,000
5,25,000
Rs. 2.29

*The earnings have not been increased as the total number of shares has been increased only by the number of shares (25,000) deemed for the purpose of the computation to have been issued for no consideration {see para 37(b)}

Appendix VII

Example - Determining the Order in Which to Include Dilutive Securities in the Computation of Weighted Average Number of Shares


(Accounting year 01-01-20XX to 31-12-20XX) 

Earnings, i.e., Net profit attributable to equity shareholders
Rs. 1,00,00,000

No. of equity shares outstanding
20,00,000

Average fair value of one equity share during the year
Rs. 75.00

Potential Equity Shares

Options
1,00,000 with exercise price of Rs. 60

Convertible Preference Shares



Attributable tax, e.g., corporate dividend tax
8,00,000 shares entitled to a cumulative dividend of Rs. 8 per share. Each preference share is convertible into 2 equity shares.

10%

12% Convertible Debentures of Rs. 100 each
Nominal amount Rs. 10,00,00,000. Each debenture is convertible into 4 equity shares. 

Tax rate
30%

Increase in Earnings Attributable to Equity Shareholders on Conversion of Potential Equity Shares 

 
Increase in Earnings
Increase in number of Equity Shares
Earnings per Incremental Share

Options

Increase in earnings
Nil 
 
 

No. of incremental shares issued for no consideration {1,00,000 x (75 - 60) / 75}
 
20,000
Nil

Convertible Preference Shares

Increase in net profit attributable to equity shareholders as adjusted by attributable tax [(Rs.8x8,00,000)+10%(8x8,00,000)]
Rs. 70,40,000 
 
 

No. of incremental shares {2 x 8,00,000}
 
16,00,000
Rs. 4.40 

12% Convertible Debentures

Increase in net profit {Rs. 10,00,00,000 x 0.12 x ( 1 - 0.30)}
Rs. 84,00,000
 
 

No. of incremental shares {10,00,000 x 4}
 
40,00,000 
Rs. 2.10 

It may be noted from the above that options are most dilutive as their earnings per incremental share is nil. Hence, for the purpose of computation of diluted earnings per share, options will be considered first. 12% convertible debentures being second most dilutive will be considered next and thereafter convertible preference shares will be considered (see para 42).

Computation of Diluted Earnings Per Share
 
Net Profit Attributable(Rs.) 
No. of Equity Shares 
Net profit attributable Per Share (Rs.)
 

As reported 
1,00,00,000
20,00,000
5.00
 

Options
 
20,000
 
 

 
1,00,00,000 
20,20,000
4.95
Dilutive

12% Convertible Debentures 
84,00,000
40,00,000 
 
 

 
1,84,00,000
60,20,000
3.06
Dilutive 

Convertible Preference Shares
70,40,000
16,00,000
 
 

 
2,54,40,000
76,20,000
3.34
Anti-Dilutive 

Since diluted earnings per share is increased when taking the convertible preference shares into account (from Rs. 3.06 to Rs 3.34), the convertible preference shares are anti-dilutive and are ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. Therefore, diluted earnings per share is Rs. 3.06. 

1. CASE STUDY ON AS 20

1. A LTD., has during the year 2001 – 2002 undertaken major expansion plans. The Profit before tax due to the expansion is expected to jump from 10 crores in 2000 – 2001 to 50 Crores in 2001 – 2002. The existing paid up share capital of the Company is as under :

Existing  Share Capital

a) 50 Lakh equity shares of Rs. 5/- each fully paid up  i.e. Rs. 2.50 crores.

b)  5 Lakh Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares  ( CCP ) of Rs. 100 each i.e.                

             Rs. 5 Crores.

These CCP’s carry on option for conversion into equity shares between the period  01/10/2001 to 30/09/2002 at a price which is at a 25% discount to the average market price of the equity shares for the period 01/07/2001 to 30/09/2001.

2. During April, 2001 the Company has proposed an issue of bonus shares in the ratio  1 : 3 by capitalising balances in Share Premium account.

3. During 2001 – 2002, to meet the expansion plans the Company would issue 5,00,000 equity shares of Rs. 5/- each in the price range of 250 – 300 by the book – building     route.

4. The Company has in March, 2001 also issued 1 Lakh Stock options to its employees.   These options are exercisable from March, 2002 onwards at a price of Rs. 250 each     whereby one share would be allotted per option.

5.  The Company has no taxable income but tax would become payable under MAT  provisions.  

What would be the disclosures regarding Earnings Per Share  ( EPS ) for the year ended 31/03/2001 and 31/03/2002.  ( assuming the proposed AS in applicable even for 31/03/2001).

ACCOUNTING STANDARD 22

ACCOUNTING FOR TAXES ON INCOME
(In this Accounting Standard, the standard portions have been set in bold italic type. These should be read in the context of the background material which has been set in normal type, and in the context of the ‘Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards’.)
Accounting Standard (AS) 22, ‘Accounting for Taxes on Income’, issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2001. It is mandatory in nature for:

a. All the accounting periods commencing on or after 01.04.2001, in respect of the following:
(i)  Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India and enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as evidenced by the board of directors resolution in this regard.

(ii) All the enterprises of a group, if the parent presents consolidated financial statements and the Accounting Standard is mandatory in nature in respect of any of the enterprises of that group in terms of (i) above.

b. All the accounting periods commencing on or after 01.04.2002, in respect of companies not covered by (a) above. 

c. All the accounting periods commencing on or after 01.04.2003, in respect of all other enterprises. 

The Guidance Note on Accounting for Taxes on Income, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India in 1991, stands withdrawn from 1.4.2001. The following is the text of the Accounting Standard. 

Objective

The objective of this Statement is to prescribe accounting treatment for taxes on income. Taxes on income is one of the significant items in the statement of profit and loss of an enterprise. In accordance with the matching concept, taxes on income are accrued in the same period as the revenue and expenses to which they relate. Matching of such taxes against revenue for a period poses special problems arising from the fact that in a number of cases, taxable income may be significantly different from the accounting income. This divergence between taxable income and accounting income arises due to two main reasons. Firstly, there are differences between items of revenue and expenses as appearing in the statement of profit and loss and the items which are considered as revenue, expenses or deductions for tax purposes. Secondly, there are differences between the amount in respect of a particular item of revenue or expense as recognised in the statement of profit and loss and the corresponding amount which is recognised for the computation of taxable income.

Scope
1. This Statement should be applied in accounting for taxes on income. This includes the determination of the amount of the expense or saving related to taxes on income in respect of an accounting period and the disclosure of such an amount in the financial statements. 

2. For the purposes of this Statement, taxes on income include all domestic and foreign taxes which are based on taxable income. 

3. This Statement does not specify when, or how, an enterprise should account for taxes that are payable on distribution of dividends and other distributions made by the enterprise 

Definitions
4. For the purpose of this Statement, the following terms are used with the meanings specified:
Accounting income (loss) is the net profit or loss for a period, as reported in the statement of profit and loss, before deducting income tax expense or adding income tax saving.

Taxable income (tax loss) is the amount of the income (loss) for a period, determined in accordance with the tax laws, based upon which income tax payable (recoverable) is determined.

Tax expense (tax saving) is the aggregate of current tax and deferred tax charged or credited to the statement of profit and loss for the period.

Current tax is the amount of income tax determined to be payable (recoverable) in respect of the taxable income (tax loss) for a period.

Deferred tax is the tax effect of timing differences.

Timing differences are the differences between taxable income and accounting income for a period that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one or more subsequent periods.

Permanent differences are the differences between taxable income and accounting income for a period that originate in one period and do not reverse subsequently.
5. Taxable income is calculated in accordance with tax laws. In some circumstances, the requirements of these laws to compute taxable income differ from the accounting policies applied to determine accounting income. The effect of this difference is that the taxable income and accounting income may not be the same. 

6. The differences between taxable income and accounting income can be classified into permanent differences and timing differences. Permanent differences are those differences between taxable income and accounting income which originate in one period and do not reverse subsequently. For instance, if for the purpose of computing taxable income, the tax laws allow only a part of an item of expenditure, the disallowed amount would result in a permanent difference. 

7. Timing differences are those differences between taxable income and accounting income for a period that originate in one period and are capable of reversal in one or more subsequent periods. Timing differences arise because the period in which some items of revenue and expenses are included in taxable income do not coincide with the period in which such items of revenue and expenses are included or considered in arriving at accounting income. For example, machinery purchased for scientific research related to business is fully allowed as deduction in the first year for tax purposes whereas the same would be charged to the statement of profit and loss as depreciation over its useful life. The total depreciation charged on the machinery for accounting purposes and the amount allowed as deduction for tax purposes will ultimately be the same, but periods over which the depreciation is charged and the deduction is allowed will differ. Another example of timing difference is a situation where, for the purpose of computing taxable income, tax laws allow depreciation on the basis of the written down value method, whereas for accounting purposes, straight line method is used. Some other examples of timing differences arising under the Indian tax laws are given in Appendix 1. 

8. Unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward of losses which can be set-off against future taxable income are also considered as timing differences and result in deferred tax assets, subject to consideration of prudence (see paragraphs 15-18).

Recognition
9. Tax expense for the period, comprising current tax and deferred tax, should be included in the determination of the net profit or loss for the period. 

10. Taxes on income are considered to be an expense incurred by the enterprise in earning income and are accrued in the same period as the revenue and expenses to which they relate. Such matching may result into timing differences. The tax effects of timing differences are included in the tax expense in the statement of profit and loss and as deferred tax assets (subject to the consideration of prudence as set out in paragraphs 15-18) or as deferred tax liabilities, in the balance sheet. 

11. An example of tax effect of a timing difference that results in a deferred tax asset is an expense provided in the statement of profit and loss but not allowed as a deduction under Section 43B of the Income-tax Act, 1961. This timing difference will reverse when the deduction of that expense is allowed under Section 43B in subsequent year(s). An example of tax effect of a timing difference resulting in a deferred tax liability is the higher charge of depreciation allowable under the Income-tax Act, 1961, compared to the depreciation provided in the statement of profit and loss. In subsequent years, the differential will reverse when comparatively lower depreciation will be allowed for tax purposes. 

12. Permanent differences do not result in deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. 

13. Deferred tax should be recognised for all the timing differences, subject to the consideration of prudence in respect of deferred tax assets as set out in paragraphs 15-18. 

14. This Statement requires recognition of deferred tax for all the timing differences. This is based on the principle that the financial statements for a period should recognise the tax effect, whether current or deferred, of all the transactions occurring in that period. 

15. Except in the situations stated in paragraph 17, deferred tax assets should be recognised and carried forward only to the extent that there is a reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. 

16. While recognising the tax effect of timing differences, consideration of prudence cannot be ignored. Therefore, deferred tax assets are recognised and carried forward only to the extent that there is a reasonable certainty of their realisation. This reasonable level of certainty would normally be achieved by examining the past record of the enterprise and by making realistic estimates of profits for the future. 

17. Where an enterprise has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of losses under tax laws, deferred tax assets should be recognised only to the extent that there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. 

18. The existence of unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of losses under tax laws is strong evidence that future taxable income may not be available. Therefore, when an enterprise has a history of recent losses, the enterprise recognises deferred tax assets only to the extent that it has timing differences the reversal of which will result in sufficient income or there is other convincing evidence that sufficient taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. In such circumstances, the nature of the evidence supporting its recognition is disclosed. 

Re-assessment of Unrecognised Deferred Tax Assets
19. At each balance sheet date, an enterprise re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets. The enterprise recognises previously unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent that it has become reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be (see paragraphs 15 to 18), that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. For example, an improvement in trading conditions may make it reasonably certain that the enterprise will be able to generate sufficient taxable income in the future. 

Measurement
20. Current tax should be measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the applicable tax rates and tax laws. 

21. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should be measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are usually measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted. However, certain announcements of tax rates and tax laws by the government may have the substantive effect of actual enactment. In these circumstances, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using such announced tax rate and tax laws. 

23. When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using average rates. 

24. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should not be discounted to their present value. 

25. The reliable determination of deferred tax assets and liabilities on a discounted basis requires detailed scheduling of the timing of the reversal of each timing difference. In a number of cases such scheduling is impracticable or highly complex. Therefore, it is inappropriate to require discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities. To permit, but not to require, discounting would result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which would not be comparable between enterprises. Therefore, this Statement does not require or permit the discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

Review of Deferred Tax Assets
26. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets should be reviewed at each balance sheet date. An enterprise should write-down the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be (see paragraphs 15 to 18), that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which deferred tax asset can be realised. Any such write-down may be reversed to the extent that it becomes reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be (see paragraphs 15 to 18), that sufficient future taxable income will be available.
Presentation and Disclosure
27. An enterprise should offset assets and liabilities representing current tax if the enterprise:
(a) has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and
(b) intends to settle the asset and the liability on a net basis. 

28. An enterprise will normally have a legally enforceable right to set off an asset and liability representing current tax when they relate to income taxes levied under the same governing taxation laws and the taxation laws permit the enterprise to make or receive a single net payment. 

29. An enterprise should offset deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if:
(a) the enterprise has a legally enforceable right to set off assets against liabilities representing current tax; and
(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to taxes on income levied by the same governing taxation laws. 

30. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should be distinguished from assets and liabilities representing current tax for the period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should be disclosed under a separate heading in the balance sheet of the enterprise, separately from current assets and current liabilities. 

31. The break-up of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities into major components of the respective balances should be disclosed in the notes to accounts. 

32. The nature of the evidence supporting the recognition of deferred tax assets should be disclosed, if an enterprise has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward of losses under tax laws.
Transitional Provisions
33. On the first occasion that the taxes on income are accounted for in accordance with this Statement, the enterprise should recognise, in the financial statements, the deferred tax balance that has accumulated prior to the adoption of this Statement as deferred tax asset/liability with a corresponding credit/charge to the revenue reserves, subject to the consideration of prudence in case of deferred tax assets (see paragraphs 15-18). The amount so credited/charged to the revenue reserves should be the same as that which would have resulted if this Statement had been in effect from the beginning. 
34. For the purpose of determining accumulated deferred tax in the period in which this Statement is applied for the first time, the opening balances of assets and liabilities for accounting purposes and for tax purposes are compared and the differences, if any, are determined. The tax effects of these differences, if any, should be recognised as deferred tax assets or liabilities, if these differences are timing differences. For example, in the year in which an enterprise adopts this Statement, the opening balance of a fixed asset is Rs. 100 for accounting purposes and Rs. 60 for tax purposes. The difference is because the enterprise applies written down value method of depreciation for calculating taxable income whereas for accounting purposes straight line method is used. This difference will reverse in future when depreciation for tax purposes will be lower as compared to the depreciation for accounting purposes. In the above case, assuming that enacted tax rate for the year is 40% and that there are no other timing differences, deferred tax liability of Rs. 16 [(Rs. 100 - Rs. 60) x 40%] would be recognised. Another example is an expenditure that has already been written off for accounting purposes in the year of its incurrance but is allowable for tax purposes over a period of time. In this case, the asset representing that expenditure would have a balance only for tax purposes but not for accounting purposes. The difference between balance of the asset for tax purposes and the balance (which is nil) for accounting purposes would be a timing difference which will reverse in future when this expenditure would be allowed for tax purposes. Therefore, a deferred tax asset would be recognised in respect of this difference subject to the consideration of prudence (see paragraphs 15 - 18). 

Appendix 1
Examples of Timing Difference
Note: This appendix is illustrative only and does not form part of the Accounting Standard. The purpose of this appendix is to assist in clarifying the meaning of the Accounting Standard. The sections mentioned hereunder are references to sections in the Income-tax Act, 1961, as amended by the Finance Act, 2001.
1. Expenses debited in the statement of profit and loss for accounting purposes but allowed for tax purposes in subsequent years, e.g.
a) Expenditure of the nature mentioned in section 43B (e.g. taxes, duty, cess, fees, etc.) accrued in the statement of profit and loss on mercantile basis but allowed for tax purposes in subsequent years on payment basis.
b) Payments to non-residents accrued in the statement of profit and loss on mercantile basis, but disallowed for tax purposes under section 40(a)(i) and allowed for tax purposes in subsequent years when relevant tax is deducted or paid.
c) Provisions made in the statement of profit and loss in anticipation of liabilities where the relevant liabilities are allowed in subsequent years when they crystallize. 

2. Expenses amortized in the books over a period of years but are allowed for tax purposes wholly in the first year (e.g. substantial advertisement expenses to introduce a product, etc. treated as deferred revenue expenditure in the books) or if amortization for tax purposes is over a longer or shorter period (e.g. preliminary expenses under section 35D, expenses incurred for amalgamation under section 35DD, prospecting expenses under section 35E). 

3. Where book and tax depreciation differ. This could arise due to:
a) Differences in depreciation rates.
b) Differences in method of depreciation e.g. SLM or WDV.
c) Differences in method of calculation e.g. calculation of depreciation with reference to individual assets in the books but on block basis for tax purposes and calculation with reference to time in the books but on the basis of full or half depreciation under the block basis for tax purposes.
d) Differences in composition of actual cost of assets. 

4. Where a deduction is allowed in one year for tax purposes on the basis of a deposit made under a permitted deposit scheme (e.g. tea development account scheme under section 33AB or site restoration fund scheme under section 33ABA) and expenditure out of withdrawal from such deposit is debited in the statement of profit and loss in subsequent years. 

5. Income credited to the statement of profit and loss but taxed only in subsequent years e.g. conversion of capital assets into stock in trade. 

6. If for any reason the recognition of income is spread over a number of years in the accounts but the income is fully taxed in the year of receipt. 

Appendix 2
Note: This appendix is illustrative only and does not form part of the Accounting Standard. The purpose of this appendix is to illustrate the application of the Accounting Standard. Extracts from statement of profit and loss are provided to show the effects of the transactions described below.
Illustration 1
A company, ABC Ltd., prepares its accounts annually on 31st March. On 1st April, 20x1, it purchases a machine at a cost of Rs. 1,50,000. The machine has a useful life of three years and an expected scrap value of zero. Although it is eligible for a 100% first year depreciation allowance for tax purposes, the straight-line method is considered appropriate for accounting purposes. ABC Ltd. has profits before depreciation and taxes of Rs. 2,00,000 each year and the corporate tax rate is 40 per cent each year.

The purchase of machine at a cost of Rs. 1,50,000 in 20x1 gives rise to a tax saving of Rs. 60,000. If the cost of the machine is spread over three years of its life for accounting purposes, the amount of the tax saving should also be spread over the same period as shown below:

Statement of Profit and Loss
(for the three years ending 31st March, 20x1, 20x2, 20x3)
(Rs in Thousands)

 
20x1
20x2
20x3

Profit before depreciation and taxes

Less: Depreciation for accounting purposes

Profit before taxes

Less: Tax expense

           Current tax

          0.40 (200 - 150)

          0.40 (200)

Deferred Tax

    Tax effect of timing differences originating during the year 0.40 (150 - 50)

    Tax effect of timing differences reversing during the year 0.40 (0 - 50)

Tax expense

Profit after tax

Net timing differences

Deferred tax liability
200

50

150

 

 

20

 

 

40

 

60

90

100

40
200

50

150

 

 

 

80

 

 

(20)

60

90

50

20
200

50

150

 

 

 

80

 

 

(20)

60

90

0

0

In 20x1, the amount of depreciation allowed for tax purposes exceeds the amount of depreciation charged for accounting purposes by Rs. 1,00,000 and, therefore, taxable income is lower than the accounting income. This gives rise to a deferred tax liability of Rs. 40,000. In 20x2 and 20x3, accounting income is lower than taxable income because the amount of depreciation charged for accounting purposes exceeds the amount of depreciation allowed for tax purposes by Rs. 50,000 each year. Accordingly, deferred tax liability is reduced by Rs. 20,000 each in both the years. As may be seen, tax expense is based on the accounting income of each period.

In 20x1, the profit and loss account is debited and deferred tax liability account is credited with the amount of tax on the originating timing difference of Rs. 1,00,000 while in each of the following two years, deferred tax liability account is debited and profit and loss account is credited with the amount of tax on the reversing timing difference of Rs. 50,000.

The following Journal entries will be passed

Year 20x1

          Profit and Loss A/c          Dr.          20,000

          To Current tax A/c                                        20,000

          (Being the amount of taxes payable for the year 20x1 provided for) 

          Profit and Loss A/c          Dr.          40,000

          To Deferred tax A/c                                        40,000

          (Being the deferred tax liability created for originating timing difference of Rs. 1,00,000) 

Year 20x2

          Profit and Loss A/c          Dr.          80,000

          To Current tax A/c                                        80,000

          (Being the amount of taxes payable for the year 20x2 provided for) 

          Deferred tax A/c          Dr.          20,000

          To Profit and Loss A/c                                        20,000

          (Being the deferred tax liability adjusted for reversing timing difference of Rs. 50,000) 

Year 20x3

          Profit and Loss A/c          Dr.          80,000

          To Current tax A/c                                        80,000

          (Being the amount of taxes payable for the year 20x3 provided for) 

          Deferred tax A/c          Dr.          20,000

          To Profit and Loss A/c                                        20,000

          (Being the deferred tax liability adjusted for reversing timing difference of Rs. 50,000) 

In year 20x1, the balance of deferred tax account i.e., Rs. 40,000 would be shown separately from the current tax payable for the year in terms of paragraph 30 of the Statement. In Year 20x2, the balance of deferred tax account would be Rs. 20,000 and be shown separately from the current tax payable for the year as in year 20x1. In Year 20x3, the balance of deferred tax liability account would be nil.

Illustration 2

In the above illustration, the corporate tax rate has been assumed to be same in each of the three years. If the rate of tax changes, it would be necessary for the enterprise to adjust the amount of deferred tax liability carried forward by applying the tax rate that has been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date on accumulated timing differences at the end of the accounting year (see paragraphs 21 and 22). For example, if in Illustration 1, the substantively enacted tax rates for 20x1, 20x2 and 20x3 are 40%, 35% and 38% respectively, the amount of deferred tax liability would be computed as follows:

The deferred tax liability carried forward each year would appear in the balance sheet as under:

31st March, 20x1     =     0.40 (1,00,000) = Rs. 40,000

31st March, 20x2     =     0.35 (50,000) = Rs. 17,500

31st March, 20x3     =     0.38 (Zero) = Rs. Zero

Accordingly, the amount debited/(credited) to the profit and loss account (with corresponding credit or debit to deferred tax liability) for each year would be as under:

31st March, 20x1     Debit       = Rs. 40,000

31st March, 20x2     (Credit)   = Rs. (22,500)

31st March, 20x3     (Credit)   = Rs. (17,500)

Illustration 3


A company, ABC Ltd., prepares its accounts annually on 31st March. The company has incurred a loss of Rs. 1,00,000 in the year 20x1 and made profits of Rs. 50,000 and 60,000 in year 20x2 and year 20x3 respectively. It is assumed that under the tax laws, loss can be carried forward for 8 years and tax rate is 40% and at the end of year 20x1, it was virtually certain, supported by convincing evidence, that the company would have sufficient taxable income in the future years against which unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward of losses can be set-off. It is also assumed that there is no difference between taxable income and accounting income except that set-off of loss is allowed in years 20x2 and 20x3 for tax purposes.

Statement of Profit and Loss
(for the three years ending 31st March, 20x1, 20x2, 20x3)
(Rs in Thousands)

 
20x1
20x2
20x3

Profit (loss)

Less: Current tax

Deferred Tax:

      Tax effect of timing differences originating during the year

       Tax effect of timing differences reversing during the year

        Profit (loss) after tax effect
(100)

---

 

40

---

(60)
50

---

 

 

(20)

30
60

(4)

 

 

(20)
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CHANGES IN AUDITOR’S REPORT REQUIREMENTS

· Shri Mukund Chitale

· ________________________________________________________________
1.
Introduction

The audit profession in our country is presently undergoing a rigorous process of change.  This change seems to have been forced upon the profession by the forces of globalisation and liberalisation.  The audit profession has the exclusive right and obligation to carry out the audit function in our country.  Naturally the society expects the auditors to ensure that timely and accurate disclosures are made in the audit report on all the material matters regarding the corporation including financial situation, performance, ownership and governance of the company.  ICAI has been issuing statements, standards, Guidance Notes on various subjects of professional interest.

 I propose to discuss certain issues regarding recent changes and their implications on the reporting requirements by the auditors.

2.
Audit Report of Limited Companies

2.1 Legal Position

The auditor of the company is required to report in accordance with the provisions of section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956. Section 227(1) of the Act requires the auditor to make certain specific enquiries during the course of audit. Section 227(2) of the Act requires the auditor, inter alia, to give his report to the members of the company on the accounts examined by him, and on every balance sheet and profit & loss account which are laid before the company in a general meeting during the tenure of auditor’s office. Sub-section (3) section 227 of the Act also lays down certain matters necessarily required to be reported upon by the auditor in his report. The auditors are also required to report in terms of Manufacturing & Other Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 1988 (hereinafter referred to as MAOCARO) issued under section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956. 

2.2
Contents of Audit Report
Audit Report u/s 227 of the Companies Act, 1956 can be classified into two categories

1) Statement of facts

2) Opinions

2.2.1
The statements of facts are:

i) Whether he has obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of his knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of his audit;

ii) Whether the report on accounts of any branch office audited under section 228 by a person other than the company’s auditors has been forwarded to him as required by section 228(3)(C) and how he has dealt with the same in preparing the auditor’s report;

iii) Whether the company’s balance sheet and profit and loss account dealt with by the report are in agreement with the books of accounts and returns;

iv) Whether any director is disqualified  from being appointed as a director under clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274

2.2.2
The opinions, which the auditor is required to express, are:

i) whether proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the company so far as it appears from the examination of the books and proper returns adequate for the purposes of the audit have been received from branches not visited by him;

ii) whether the profit and loss account and balance sheet complied with the accounting standards referred to any sub-section (3)(c) of section 211;

iii) whether the accounts give the information required by the Act in the manner so required;

iv) whether the accounts give true and fair view, in the case of the balance sheet of the state of the company’s affairs, and in the case of the profit and loss account, of the profit or loss for the year.

v) The auditor’s report shall also state in thick type or in Italics the observations or comments of the auditors, which have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company.

2.2.3
Special matters in Auditor’s Report under section 227(1A) requires the auditor to make certain specific inquiries during the course of audit and report upon the same if the auditor is not satisfied with the explanation.  The auditor is required to inquire

i) Whether loans and advances made by the company on the basis of security have been properly secured and whether the terms on which they have been made are not prejudicial to the interests of the company or its members.

ii) Whether transactions of the company which are represented merely by     book entries are not prejudicial to the interest of the company

iii) Where the company is not an investment company within the meaning of section 372 or a banking company, whether so much of the assets of the company as consist of shares, debentures and other securities have been sold at a price less than that at which they are purchased by the company.

iv) Whether loans and advances made by the company have been shown as deposits

v) Whether personal expenses have been charged to revenue account

vi) Where it is stated that in the books and papers of the company that any shares have been allotted for cash, whether cash has actually been so received in respect of such allotment and if no cash has actually been so received, whether the position as stated in the accounts books and the balance sheet is correct, regular and not misleading.

2.3
Recent amendments to Section 227 (3) of the Companies Act, 1956

Sub- section (3) of section 227 has been amended by the companies (Amendment) Act, 2000 by inserting two new clauses (e) and (f) to the sub-section which is reproduced as below: 

The auditor’s report shall also state

(e) In thick type or in Italics the observations or comments of the auditors which have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company.

f) Whether any director is disqualified from being appointed as director under clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274.

2.4
Reporting under section 227(3) (e) of the Companies Act 1956

2.4.1
Clause (e) requires the auditor to highlight “ in thick type or in Italics the observations or comments which have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company”.  It may be noted that neither auditor’s observations nor comments have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company.  Instead, these observations or comments are about the matters, which may have an adverse effect on the functioning of the company.  The auditor makes various qualifications, which have an impact on the financial statements of the company.  Such qualifications, however, may or may not have an adverse effect on the functioning of the company. The words “observations” and “comments” as appearing in clause (e) of sub-section (3) of section 227 are construed to have same meaning as referring to “qualification” since only those “observations” or “comments” are required to be stated in thick type or in italics which have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company.  Clause (e) of sub-section 227(3) requires highlighting of those observation(s) or comment(s) only, which have an adverse effect on the functioning of the company.  It is implied that in case none of the observation(s) or comment(s) appears either in thick type or in Italics, then there are no observation(s) or comment(s), which have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company.

2.4.2
The Act does not specify the meaning of the phrase “adverse effect on the functioning of the company”.  The expression may be interpreted to mean that any event affecting the functioning of the company observed by the auditor should be reported upon even though it does not affect the financial statements, e.g., revocation of a license to manufacture one out of many products during the year etc.  However, such an interpretation would not only be beyond the scope of the audit of accounts of the company but would also not be in accordance with the objective and concept of an independent audit stipulated under the Act.  A more logical and harmonious interpretation is that the amendment does not intend to change the basic objective and the concept of an independent audit of accounts of a company, which is to examine the financial statements with a view to express an opinion thereon.

2.4.3
The scope of the audit and auditor’s role remains as contemplated under the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and other relevant pronouncements, issued by ICAI as well as laid down by the Act.  Sap-2 on “Objective and Scope of the Audit of Financial Statements” specifies that “ the auditor’s opinion helps determination of the true and fair view of the financial position and operating results of an enterprise.  The user, however, should not assume that the auditor’s opinion is an assurance as to the future viability of the enterprise or the efficiency or effectiveness with which management has conducted the affairs of the enterprise”. The auditor’s work involves exercise of judgement. Auditor may have to depend upon the estimates made by the management to draw conclusions therefrom.  Because of these factors, absolute certainty in audit is rarely attainable.  In forming his opinion on the financial statements, the auditor follows a procedure designed to satisfy himself that the financial statements of the company reflect a true and fair view of the states of affairs.  Due to test nature of work and other inherent limitations there is a possibility that some material misstatement may remain undiscovered.  Discovery of material misstatement by the management is not the main objective of audit nor is the auditor’s programme of work specifically designed for such discovery.

2.4.4
Depending on the results of his audit procedures, the auditor’s report may contain qualifications, adverse comments or disclaimer of opinion on matters which in the auditor’s judgement have an effect on the true and fair view reflected by the balance sheet and profit and loss account.  The nature of these qualifications or adverse comments would not be different merely because of the inclusion of clause (e).  Accordingly, there would be no change in the scope of the audit.  However, the auditor would now have to evaluate his qualifications or adverse comments to make judgement as to which of them deal with matters that have an adverse effect on the functioning of the company within the overall context of audit of financial statements of the company.  Those qualifications or adverse comments which in his opinion deal with matters that have an adverse effect on the functioning of the company should be given in thick type or in italics.  Conversely, such qualifications or adverse remarks of the auditor which do not deal with matters that have adverse effect on the functioning of the company need not be given in thick type or in italics.  Examples of qualifications or adverse comments which have an adverse effect on the functioning of the company include a situation where the going concern assumption is considered inappropriate or there exists any item having a significant impact on the current financial results of the company and which might also have a material effect on the future results of the entity, e.g., non-determination of obsolete stocks / bad debts, significant impairment of the assets, etc.

2.4.5
As far as reporting requirements under section 227(1A) are concerned, the auditor is not required to report on these matters unless he has any special comments to make on any of the items referred to therein.  The auditor may also consider highlighting such comments in thick type or in Italics, which have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company.  Another issue which arises is whether any observation or comment made by the auditor in respect of his report under MAOCARO, issued under section 227(4A) of the Act, which has any adverse effect on the functioning of the company, should also be reported in terms of this clause.  In this regard, it is noted that section 227(4A) of the Act treats the matters included in MAOCARO as a part of the auditor’s report.  Accordingly, any observation or comment made by the auditor in his report under MAOCARO contains such matters, which, in his opinion, will have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company, should also be reported in thick type or Italics as required by this clause.  An example in this regard may be where an auditor reports that the company is a sick industrial company within the meaning of clause (o) of sub-section (1) of section 3 of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985, and a reference has been made to the Board for Industrial and Financial Reconstruction.

2.5 Reporting under section 227(3)(f) of the Companies Act, 1956

2.5.1
Clause (f) of section 227(3) of the Companies Act, 1956, is reproduced below:

“227(3) The auditor’s report shall also state –


…………………………………….

…………………………………….

(f) whether any director is disqualified from being appointed as a director under clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274."

2.5.2
The relevant extracts of section 274(1)(g) referred to in clause (f) of section 227(3), are reproduced below:


"274(1)

A person shall not be capable of being appointed director of a company, if—




.................…………………………………………………………..


……………………………………………………………………….
(g) such person is already a director of a public company which (
(A) has not filed the annual accounts and annual returns for any continuous three financial years commencing on and after the first day of April, 1999; or 

(B) has failed to repay its deposit or interest thereon on due date or redeem its debentures on due date or pay dividend and such failure continues for one year or more;

(C) Provided that such person shall not be eligible to be appointed as a director of any other public company for a period of five years from the date on which such public company in which he is a director failed to file annual accounts and annual returns under sub-clause (a) or has failed to repay its deposit or interest or redeem its debentures on due date or pay dividend referred to in clause (B)."

2.5.3.
On a perusal of section 227(3)(f), it is apparent that the auditor has to report on whether any of the directors of the company, whether public or private, are disqualified from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274, i.e., he will have to satisfy himself as to whether any of the directors has attracted disqualification in terms of section 274(1)(g).  This is because while clause (f) of section 227(3) is the operating clause, clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274 is the defining clause.  It is, therefore, suggested that whether any of the directors of the company has attracted disqualification should be considered as on a particular date, viz., at the balance sheet date.

2.5.4
It may be noted that section 274(1)(g) is applicable to appointment of directors both in public and private companies but the reporting will be limited to those directors of a company who are also directors of any public company.  It may be further noted that a person who was a director of a public company which had defaulted in terms of clause (g) of section 274(1)  and ceased to be a director of that public company would not be disqualified from being appointed as a director of a private company since on the date of appointment, he is not director of such public company and moreover proviso to section 274(1)(g) is only applicable to appointment of such director in another public company.

2.5.5
A person is disqualified from being appointed as a director of a company, where any public company of which he is also a director, has not filed annual accounts and annual returns for any continuous three financial years commencing on and after 1.4.1999 or has failed to repay its deposit or interest thereon on due date or redeem its debentures on due date or pay dividend and such failure continues for one year or more.  In case of a disqualification by virtue of sub-clause (A) of clause (g) of section 274(1), the period of five years would be reckoned from the date as specified in sub-clause (A), on which the public company failed to file its annual accounts and annual returns.  Where the disqualification arises on account of sub-clause (B) of clause (g) of section 274(1), the period of five years will be reckoned from the relevant due date as specified in sub-clause (B) for repayment of deposit or interest thereon or redemption of debentures or payment of dividend, as the case may be.  This would mean that while reporting on the financial statements of a particular year, say, in the year 2005, the auditor will have to ascertain whether a person appointed as director in the auditee company was not a director of another public company which has defaulted in terms of section 274(1)(g) during the last five years.  If it is so, then the auditor will have to report accordingly under section 227(3)(f).

2.5.6
Attention of the members is invited to section 303(1) of the Act which requires every company to keep a register of directors, etc. at its registered office.  The said register contains various particulars relating to all the directors of the company including particulars in respect of the office of director, managing director, etc. held in any other body corporate(s) by each director.  For the purpose of satisfying himself that a director of the company has not attracted disqualification in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of Section 274, the auditor should require the director to submit a written representation in respect of each such public company as on the balance sheet date as to whether or not the public companies of which also he is a director have not defaulted in terms of the aforesaid section.  There is a practice amongst many companies that the directors obtain a legal compliance report, periodically, to ensure that the companies have complied with all the legal requirements.  Compliance with clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274 can be a part of the said legal compliance report.  Such a compliance report can, therefore, be submitted by the director as an evidence in this regard.  In addition to written representation obtained from the director in respect of public companies of which he is a director, the auditor should also obtain written representation from the director in respect of each of those public companies in which he was a director in the past as to whether or not the director is disqualified to be appointed as a director in terms of proviso to Section 274(1)(g).  The auditor should insist that written representation or the legal compliance report, as the case may be, should be taken on record by the Board of Directors of the auditee company.

2.5.7
In case an auditee company happens to be a public company which has not filed the annual accounts and annual returns for any continuous three financial years commencing on and after 1st April, 1999; or has failed to repay its deposit or interest thereon on due date or redeem its debentures on due date or pay dividend and such failure continues for one year or more; then the auditor must report that all the directors are disqualified from being appointed as director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274 of the Act.

2.5.8
The reporting under clause (f) of sub-section (3) of section 227 may be as follows keeping in view the situation concerned:

(a) Where all the directors of the company are able to produce the evidence as specified in paragraph 2.5.6 above that the public company/(ies) of which they are directors have not defaulted in terms of section 274(1)(g), the auditor may report as follows:

“On the basis of the written representations received from the directors, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, we report that none of the directors is disqualified as on 31st March, 2XXX from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956”.

(b) In a situation where a director is unable to produce the written representation as specified in para 2.5.6 above, the auditor may report as follows:

“Mr. X, who is also a director of ABC Ltd., has not produced written representation as to whether ABC Ltd., in which Mr. X is a director as on 31st March, 2XXX, had not defaulted in terms of section 274(1)(g) of the Companies Act, 1956.  In the absence of this representation, we are unable to comment whether Mr. X is disqualified from being appointed as a director under clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956.  As far as other directors are concerned, on the basis of the written representations received from such directors, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, we report that none of the remaining directors is disqualified as on 31st March, 2XXX from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956.”

(c) Where on the basis of the written representation received from a director, it is noted that the director was disqualified from being appointed as a director under this clause, the auditor may report as follows:

“On the basis of the written representation received from Mr. Y, who is a director of ABC Ltd., as on 31st March 2XXX, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, we report that he is disqualified from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274.

As far as other directors are concerned, on the basis of the written representations received from such directors, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, we report that none of the remaining directors is disqualified as on 31st March 2XXX from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956.”

2.5.9
The Companies (Amendment) Act, 2000 has come into force on 13th December, 2000 [Section 1(2) of the said Act].  Accordingly, reporting requirements contained in section 227(3)(e) and (f) shall be operative in respect of audit reports signed on or after 13th December, 2000.

2.6
MAOCARO - Clause on Sick Company

2.6.1 The Statement on Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order 1988 requires the auditor to report whether the Company is a sick industrial Company within the meaning of clause (o) of sub section (1) of section 3 of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985 (1 of 1986); if so, whether a reference has been made to BIFR under section 15 of that Act.  As per the requirement of the Act, the sickness of the Company is determined with reference to its accumulated losses.  The Council is of the opinion that the auditor’s qualifications should also be taken into consideration in determining the figure of looses.  

2.6.2
The term loss in the above reference should be construed to mean net profit/loss shown by the profit and loss account of the company as adjusted after taking into account qualifications in the audit report to the extent the qualifications are quantified.  Accordingly. Where, after adjusting for the qualifications in the auditor’s report, a company would be considered a sick company within the meaning of section 3(1)(o) of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985, the auditor should while reporting on this clause, indicate that his opinion has been arrived at after considering the effect of the qualifications.  Where any of the qualifications in the audit report is not capable of being quantified, the auditor should state that the effect of such unquantified qualification has not been taken into consideration for the purpose of determining whether or not the company is a sick company within the meaning of clause (o) of sub section (1) of section 3 of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985.

2. 3.
Corporate Governance

3.1 Legal Support

3.1.1
The Companies (Amendment) Act 2000, has made various changes in the Companies Act 1956, which became effective from 13-12-2000.  The government has declared that the objective of these amendments was to provide for certain measures for good corporate governance and for protection of investors.

3.1.2
Corporate governance is a process of structuring, operating and controlling a company with specific aims of fulfilling its long term strategic goals by encompassing a sound Board monitoring system over the functional and compliance aspect.  It stresses the need to have transparency in respect of board matters, disclosures to shareholders.  It ensures that promoters of a company remain accountable and responsive to shareholders, creditors, consumers and employees.

3.1.3
The important features of corporate governance i.e. adequate disclosures, focussed approach, streamlined delegation and professional management ultimately result in maximising the shareholders value and protecting creditors and employees.

3.2 Companies (Amendment) Act 2000

The Companies (Amendment) Act 2000 attempts to foster corporate governance in the Indian Corporate Sector through various provisions, some of which are given below,

1) Section 217(2AA): proposing the inclusion of Directors’ Responsibility Statement in the Directors’ Report

2) Section 274(1)(g): disqualification of director

3) Section 292 A Formation of an Audit Committee

4) Section 275 to 277: to provide that a person can be appointed as a Director in maximum of 15 companies.

I. 3.3
Directors’ Responsibility Statement

3.3.1
Section 217 is amended to provide that the Boards report shall also include a Directors’ Responsibility Statement indicating therein:

i)
That the applicable accounting standards had been followed in the preparation of the annual accounts and proper explanations are given for material departures therefrom.

ii)
That the directors had selected such accounting policies and applied   them  consistently and made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

iv)
That the directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

v)
That the directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern   basis. 

3.3.2
Implications

a) The contents of the Directors’ Responsibility Statement given above will make it necessary for them to have a formal system within the company which will enable them to make this statement. This will certainly improve the quality of record keeping and accounts maintenance of the companies. 

b) Every company will have to analyse the accounting standards in greater details to ascertain whether the company is in fact following the accounting standards in totality. In case there are any material departures from compliance with accounting standards, then the directors will have to offer proper explanations for such departures. 


c) In case, the directors bring out any material departures in compliance with     accounting standards, then naturally the auditors may have to give suitable comments about the same in their audit reports under section 227(3)(d) and also consider whether the audit report needs to be qualified in this regard.


d) The assertions made by the directors in the Directors’ Responsibility Statement pertain to the annual accounts and the basis on which these are prepared. In fact, most of these assertions are such that they would have been better suited as a part of the Notes on Accounts which are considered as a part of annual accounts on which auditors give their audit report. It will be, therefore, necessary for the auditors to ascertain from the Board the comments that they are going to make in this Statement to ensure that there is no inconsistency in the contents of the annual accounts, director’s report and audit report. 

3.4
Compliance Certificate – Listed Companies

With the SEBI circular on corporate governance and amendment of listing, agreement by stock exchanges, Chartered Accountants have been entrusted with the broader responsibility of carry out compliance audit under Corporate Governance Code.  A Company is required to comply with the various clauses of Corporate Governance Code and obtain a certificate from its Statutory Auditors to that effect.  The Compliance Certificate is to be annexed to the Directors’ Report.  Accordingly, at the early stage of implementation of the Corporate Governance Code, the Chartered Accountants are expected to act as reviewer.  A checklist for compliance audit to be carried out as per Corporate Governance Code is given in Annexure I.

4.
Qualifications in Audit Report

The Statement on Qualification in Auditor’s Report issued by the Council of the Institute requires, whenever possible, the effect of the qualification on the financial statements in a clear and unambiguous manner.

4.1
Aspects to be considered while qualifying the report
            While qualifying a report it is important to appreciate:

i) which of the various items require qualification

ii) whether the auditors are in active disagreement with something which has been done by the company or merely unable to form an opinion in regard to items for which there is lack of adequate information

iii) Materiality of the item to be qualified with respect to the profitability of the company.  Whether there is material contravention of any requirement of the Companies Act 1956, which has adverse effect on the accounts

4.2. Quantification of effect of qualification


It has been observed that in complying with this requirement, some auditors quantify the total effect of all qualifications on the profit or loss and/or state of affairs of the company.  This is useful to the readers of the audit report.  Therefore, the Council decided to bring it to the attention of the members that they are expected to quantify not only the effect of the qualification on the individual items of the financial statement but also their overall effect on the profit/loss or state of affairs.

4.3
View of the Council

Accordingly the Council has made certain amendments in para 3.10 of the statement.  Further it has also added some more examples in the statement to provide guidance to the members on the manner of quantifying the total effect of the qualifications.  Certain changes have also been made in para 3.7 of the statement.

4.4
Amended Paragraphs


The relevant extracts of the paragraphs of the Statement which have been amended and examples which have been added pursuant to the above decision of the Council are reproduced below:

3.7
In a majority of cases, items, which are the subject matter of the qualifications, are not so material as to affect the true and fairness of the whole of the accounts.  In such cases, it is appropriate for the auditors to report that in their opinion, subject to the specific qualifications mentioned, the accounts present a true and fair view.  Sometimes, however, the items, which are the subject matter of qualifications, are so material that it would be meaningless to state that subject to the qualifications, the accounts disclose true and fair view.  An example would be where all the qualifications taken together substantially affect the profit or loss as shown in the profit and loss account, including where the profit is converted into a loss or vice versa.  In such a case, the auditor should state that the profit and loss account does not reflect a true and fair view of profit or loss of the period.  Another example would be where the auditors were not able to examine a substantial part of the books of accounts, e.g., they were in police custody ………….


3.10
All qualifications should be contained in the auditors’ report.  The notes to the accounts normally represent explanatory statements given by the directors of the company and should not contain the opinion of the auditors.  Some of the notes may be subject matter of qualifications in the Auditors’ Report while some others may be merely clarificatory.  It is necessary that, in the audit report, the auditors should reproduce the notes, which are subject matter of the qualifications so that the readers may properly appreciate the significance of these qualifications.  It is also necessary that the auditors should quantify, wherever possible, the effect of all the qualifications on the profit or loss and/or state of affairs in clear and unambiguous manner.  In circumstances where it is not possible to quantify the effect of the qualifications accurately, the auditors may do so on the basis of estimates made by the management after carrying out such audit tests as are possible and clearly indicate the fact that the figures are based on the management estimates. 

5.
Future Perspective: Audit Report 

5.1 Present Situation

5.1.1
The audit report submitted by our members presently fully meets the legal requirements e.g. the auditor of a limited company includes in his audit reports the issues specified in section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956.  Similarly the auditor doing the tax audit submits his Audit Report in form 3CA or 3CB as the case may be.

5.1.2
A scrutiny of these audit reports points out that the auditor makes certain assertions about the existence of the books of accounts and their agreement with the Financial Statements and Compliance of the entity with the relevant legal requirements.  The auditors of a limited Company for the year ended 31st March 1999 onwards have also started reporting on compliance with the accounting standards as prescribed in section 211 of the Companies Act 1956.  The auditor thereafter goes on to express his opinion about the true and fair view of the statements of affairs and the operations of the Company for the relevant year.

5.2
Disclosure for Compliance with SAPs

5.2.1
The audit report however does not include any statement or assertion from the auditor that he has carried out the audit in accordance with the SAPs.  The audit report also does not bring out the basic responsibility of the management in preparation of the financial statement.

5.2.2
It may be worth while to consider whether the auditor should make the positive assertion in his audit report that he has complied with the SAPs while conducting the audit.  It may be argued that our members are already supposed to be conducting the audit in compliance with the SAPs and therefore there is no necessity of having a positive assertion from the members in this regard.  However, it is generally found that the positive assertions in a audit report are found to be better tool for achieving certain compliances as compared to a situation when only exceptions are to be reported.

5.3
Assertions from the Directors

5.3.1
It will be worthwhile to note that Section 217 is now amended to provide that the Board’s report shall include a Directors’ Responsibility Statement containing specific assertions about their responsibility of preparation and presentation of financial statements.


5.4 Audit Report of International Federation of  Accountants

A copy of the audit report given by the Auditors of International Federation of Accountants on its financial statements for the year ended on 30th June 1999 is reproduced in Annexure II.  One can look at the number of assersions made by the audit firm in their audit report.

6.
Conclusion

This paper is prepared on the basis of recent changes which need attention of the auditors while carrying out the audit function. The objective of this paper would be well achieved if the readers find them useful in their day – to – day work.

Annexure I

Check List of the Items to be covered while issuing compliance certificate under the Corporate Governance Code along with suggested audit approach.



Clause I : Board of Directors
Requirements
Audit Approach

Composition
· At least one – third of the board should comprise of independent directors if the board is chaired by a non- executive;

· At least one – half of the board should comprise of independent directors if the board is chaired by an executive;


Verification of board composition

Disclosure of pecuniary relationship or transaction with the NED
Pecuniary relationship transaction with NEDs should be disclosed in the Annual Report.
Related party disclosure as suggested in IAS 24 any and system of verification of transactions entered into Register maintained under section 301 of the Companies Act may be followed.



Clause II : Audit Committee 



Relationship with audit committee

Compliance certificate
It is simply a sub – committee of the board

Functioning of the audit committee
There is no need to change in any audit approach even if the audit committee desires.

It is not sufficient to see whether the audit committee is in place. Rather the auditor should scrutinise the minutes of the audit committee meetings to review if it has discharged the functions assigned to it. An auditor may also help the audit committee to prepare its annual charter.



Clause III : . Directors’ remuneration




· Disclosure of directors’ remuneration in the corporate governance section of the annual report.

· Fixation of remuneration of the NEDs by the board
Verification of executive compensation only. If the board decides on linking pay performance relationship that may be reviewed.

Verification of board resolution to scrutinise the remuneration fixation procedure.



Clause IV : Board procedure




· Meetings

· Membership

· Informations flow to the board
Verify if at least four meetings of the board were held and the maximum time gap between two meetings did not exceed four months.

Check if a director is member of more than ten committees across the companies and Chairman of more than five committees across the companies.

Verify if the fifteen items covered in Annexure I of the SEBI Code are addressed by the board and necessary information was placed before the board.



Clause V : Management Discussion and Analysis



Purpose. 

Supplementing the financial statements


· Discussion should cover specified items content
Evaluate the information.

Clause VI : Information to the Shareholders
· Shareholders Grievance Committee

· Information about new director

· Significant statements
Evaluate functioning of the shareholders Grievance Committee.

Check pending shareholders’ complaints as regards non – receipt of dividend, delayed share transfer, etc.

Check timeliness of the information.

Check if all significant statements are made publicly.

Clause VII : 

Reporting Requirements
· Disclosure of specific items as per Annexure II of the SEBI Code.
Check correctness of the disclosure and coverage of the items.



Clause VIII :

Issuance of compliance Certificate
· Reporting Format not yet standardised
An auditor should indicate depth of verification relating to various issues covered under the code.

ANNEXURE – II

AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS

We have audited the accompanying statements of assets, liabilities, and fund balance of the International Federation of Accountants as of June 30, 1999 and 1998, and the related statements of revenue and expenses and fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the organization’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining on the test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the organization as of June 30, 1999 and 1998, and of the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Accounting Standards.

LARSEN, ALLEN, WEISHAIR & CO., LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota

August 4, 1999   

ISSUES ON RECENT CHANGES IN AUDIT REPORT REUIREMENTS
I.
Statement on Manufacturing and other Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 1988 (MAOCARO)

A.
In company X the sum total of qualifications aggregate to erode the Net worth of the company, thereby becoming a sick company by virtue of Statement on Manufacturing and other Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 1988 (MAOCARO).

Under section 15 of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985 (SICA), the board of directors is required to make a reference to the Board for Industrial & Financial Reconstruction (BIFR) within sixty days from the date of finalisation of the duly audited accounts for the financial year as at the end of which the company has become a sick industrial company.

Statement on MAOCARO states: 

“The phrase finalisation of the duly audited accounts for the purpose of section 15 of SICA seem to refer to the date on which the accounts are adopted at the annual general meeting. As such, with regard to the requirement concerning the reference by the board of directors to BIFR, the auditor will generally report for the first time in the year following the year in which the company becomes a sick industrial company.”

Paragraph (xx) of MAOCARO states:

“Whether the company is a sick company within the meaning of clause (o) of sub-section (1) of section 3 of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985 (1of 1986); if so, whether a reference has been made to the Board for Industrial & Financial Reconstruction under section 15 of that Act.”

Query:
Whether the auditor should state in MAOCARO, the fact that the company has become a sick company by virtue of section 15 of SICA, in the year in which Net worth of the company is eroded after considering the qualifications?

B.
Clause (o) of sub-section (1) of section 3 of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985 defines a sick company as “an industrial company (being a company registered for not less than five years) which has at the end of any financial year accumulated losses equal to or exceeding its entire net worth and has also suffered cash losses in such financial year and the financial year immediately preceding such financial year.”


Explanation: - For the purpose of this clause – 


“cash loss” means loss as computed without providing for depreciation.


“net worth” is the sum total of the paid up capital and free reserves.


“free reserves: means all reserves credited out of the profits and share premium account but does not include reserves credited out of re-evaluation of assets, write back of depreciation provisions and amalgamations.


Statement on MAOCARO prior to the amendment did not require auditors to consider the impact of the qualifications in determining whether the company has become a sick company or not. 


In light of the definition of a sick company and the earlier stand taken by ICAI in the Statement on MAOCARO prior to amendment, whether the company can proceed against the auditor if the auditor reports that the company is a sick company within the meaning of clause (o) of sub-section (1) of section 3 of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985?

II.
Standard on Qualifications in Auditor’s Report

A.
A company with a turnover of Rs.200 crores, Assets worth Rs.50 crores & Issued Equity share capital of Rs.10 crores discloses a Net Profit of Rs.5 Lacs for the year ended 31st March 2001. By virtue of a quantified qualification for non-provision of debtors considered doubtful of Rs.6 lacs, the Net Profit is converted into a Net Loss of Rs.1 Lac. 

Whether the accounts disclose a True & Fair view?

B.
In the above company, a qualification has not been quantified by the management nor by the auditor due to constraint of time, but the quantification, if made, is likely to be material and exceed the amount of Net Profit of Rs.5 lacs thereby converting the Net Profit into a Net Loss.

Whether the accounts disclose a True & Fair view?

III.
Guidance Note on Section 227(3)(e) and (f) of the Companies Act, 1956

A.
Section 227(3)(e) of the Companies Act, 1956 states: “The auditor shall state in thick type or in italics the observations or comments of the auditors which have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company.”

A.1
Section 227(3) states: “The Auditor shall also state… … … Clause (a) to (f) … …”


If there are no qualifications in the Auditors Report, should the auditor give a positive assertion to the fact that there are no observations or comments, which have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company.

A.2
A company changes its method of computing depreciation from Written Down Value Method (WDV) to Straight Line Method (SLM). The auditor of the company seeks your opinion on the following issues:

· Whether to qualify the change in the aforesaid accounting policy?

· If yes, whether he should consider the impact of such change in the total effect of all the qualifications on profit/ loss and/ or state of affairs, as given in Standard on Qualifications in Auditor’s Report?

· Whether to state the same in thick type or in italics?

A.3
A company changes the basis of computing cost of inventories from Weighted Average Method to First in First Out Method (FIFO). The auditor of the company seeks your opinion as to the following:

· Whether he should Qualify the change in the basis of computing cost of inventories?

· If yes, whether he should consider the impact of such change in the total effect of all the qualifications on profit/ loss and/ or state of affairs, as given in Standard on Qualifications in Auditor’s Report?

· Whether he should state the same in thick type or in italics?

A.4
Whether the following observations or comments of the auditors construe to have any adverse effect on the functioning of the company, if yes, what portion of the text should be state in thick type or in italics?

1.
The company has not maintained records showing particulars including quantitative details and situation of Fixed Assets.

2.
The company has not updated for the year, the records showing particulars including quantitative details and situation of Fixed Assets.

3.
The stocks of the company have not been physically verified by the Management at reasonable intervals. 

4.
The procedure of physical verification of stocks followed by the management are not reasonable and adequate in relation to the size of the company and the nature of its business. 

5.
The discrepancies noticed on physical verification of stocks as compared to book records were material considering the operations of the Company and the same have not been properly dealt with in the books of account.

6.
The valuation of stocks is not fair and proper in accordance with the normally accepted accounting principles.

7.
The company has not taken high interest bearing loans from companies listed in the registers maintained under section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956, which are prejudicial to the interest of the company.

8.
The company has not granted interest free loans to companies listed in the registers maintained under section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956, which are prejudicial to the interest of the company.

9.
In respect of Loans given by the company, the same have become doubtful of recovery as mentioned in note no.__ of notes forming part of accounts.

10.
The internal control procedures are weak and not commensurate with the size of the company and the nature of its business for the purchase of stores, raw materials including components, plant and machinery, equipment and other assets and for the sale of goods.

11.
The transactions of purchase & sale of goods and materials and sale of services made in pursuance of contracts or arrangements entered in the registers maintained under section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956 and aggregating during the year to Rs.50,000 or more in respect of each party have not been made at prices which are reasonable having regard to prevailing market prices for such goods/ materials/ services or the prices at which transactions for similar goods/ materials/ services have been made with other parties.

12.
The company does not have a regular procedure for the determination of unserviceable or damaged stores, raw materials and finished goods.

13.
The company does not have an internal audit system.

14.
Provident Fund and The Employees State Insurance dues have not been regularly deposited during the year with the appropriate authorities.

15.
There undisputed amounts payable in respect of Income Tax, Wealth Tax, Sales Tax, Customs Duty and Excise Duty outstanding for a period of more than six months as at 31st March, 2001 from the date they became payable aggregating to Rs.2,57,359.

16.
Personal expenses of employees or directors have been charged to the revenue accounts aggregating to Rs.1,76,200.

B.
Section 227(3)(f) of the Companies Act, 1956 states: “The auditor shall state whether any director is disqualified from being appointed as director under clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274.”


Section 274(1) of the Companies Act, 1956 states: “A person shall not be capable of being appointed director of a company, if………”


(g)
such person is already a director of a public company which-

(A)
has not filed the annual accounts and annual returns for any continuous three financial years commencing on or after the first day of April, 1999; or

(B)
has failed to repay its deposit or interest thereon on due date or redeem its debentures on due date or pay dividend and such failure continues for one year or more;

Provided that such person shall not be eligible to be appointed as a director of any public company for a period of five years from the date on which such public company in which he is a director failed to file annual accounts and annual returns under sub-clause (a) or has failed to repay its deposit or interest or redeem its debentures on due date or pay dividend referred to in clause (B).”

B.1
Company X which is under audit has failed to repay its deposit on 15.09.1999 and such failure continues beyond 14.09.2000. For the Financial Year 2000-2001, whether the director who is to retire by rotation be disqualified as on 31.3.01?

B.2
A director of X Limited is also a director in ABC Limited. ABC Limited failed to repay its deposit on 15.09.1999 and such failure continues beyond 14.09.2000. Whether the director would be disqualified from being appointed director of X Limited as on 31.3.01?

B.3
A director of X Limited is also a director in ABC Limited. ABC Limited failed to repay its deposit on 15.09.1997 and such failure continues beyond 14.09.1998. Whether the director would be disqualified from being appointed director of X Limited as on 31.3.01?

B.4
A director of X Limited is also a director in ABC Limited. ABC Limited failed to repay its deposit on 15.01.2000 and such failure continues beyond 14.01.2001. Whether the director would be disqualified from being appointed director of X Limited as on 31.3.01?

B.5
A director of X Limited is also a director in ABC Limited. ABC Limited failed to repay its deposit on 15.09.1999 and such failure continues beyond 14.09.2000. For the Financial Year 2000-2001, whether the director would be disqualified from being appointed director of X Limited as on 31.3.01?

Individuals having voting power to control or have significant influence over  the enterprise





Key Manage-ment personnel





Enterprises which are under direct or indirect control with each other





Associates and joint venture of the Reporting Enterprise			





Enterprises on which (c) and (d) can exercise significant influence





Enterprises owned by directors or major shareholders of the reporting enterprise





Investing party or venturer of the above associate or  joint venture





And relatives of such individuals 





And relatives of such personnel





Or are under common control





This include holding subsidiary and fellow subsidiary companies





Enterprise having a common key management personnel with reporting enterprise
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